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“If you want to be different,
you have to sing your own song.’’

Sigve Brekke, Co-CEO, DTAC

“The DTAC way is really an attitude,
a way of thinking ... an emotional response.’’

Vichai Bencharongkul, Co-CEO, DTAC
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As Frank sang about doing it  my way ,  in 2003 we did it

our way ... the DTAC way. But what does that mean? It

means we have a culture of  being different that has led to

us being the industry’s innovators. We are the company

that thinks outside the box, breaks the mould, takes the

risks, leads the way. But more importantly, what it means

to our valued customers is the way we help them to take

control of their world of communications. It’s about

empowerment. It’s about choices. It’s about listening to

people’s needs, and acting with intelligence and alacrity to

deliver solutions. Quite simply, DTAC’s “My’’ and “Happy’’

concepts sparked a revolution in the wireless sector in

Thailand in 2003, and that is something we are very proud

of. How did we do it? It all comes down to our people – our

team. That’s why you’ll read about them first in this, our

2003 Annual Report. It may not look or read like your

average annual report. That’s because in everything we do,

we strive to be original. We push to stay ahead of the pack.

And we promise to do things … the DTAC way.
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“Gonna change my way of thinking,
Make myself a different set of rules.”

Bob Dylan
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People
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Has DTAC met your expectations in 2003?

Yes, I am pleased to report that despite a
slower pace of growth in the number of
customers coming into the market in 2003
and an increase in the number of
competitors offering wireless services,
DTAC still had what I consider to be a
successful year. We added almost 1.1
million net new customers to maintain our
market share at around 29% and, I believe
more significantly, delivered a 20%
increase in ser vice revenues which
translated into a 24% growth in net
earnings for the year.

It has been a year of major changes in the
marketplace, correct?

Certainly. There was no let up in the
competitive environment in 2003 but as
the market dynamics changed due to more
price-based competition, so did our focus.
Our operating plans centered on creating

revenue growth from providing products
that encourage usage of our services

by meeting the needs of an
increasingly more sophisticated

customer.

How was that achieved?

It required that we
continue our role of

leading the in-

Mr. Boonchai
             Bencharongkul
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Interview with the Chairman of the Board

more advanced non-voice services and
enhancements to improve the user
experience of data services.

What does this translate to in terms of
operating results?

The result of our efforts in 2003 was not
only a significant increase in operating
revenues from our core voice business but
also, encouragingly, revenues from
Value Added Services increased
by 81% and International
Roaming Services increased by
53%.  Against this back drop of
revenue growth in an increasingly
competitive environment, we continued to
have a strong focus on operating cost and
expenses management which resulted in
a 16% improvement in EBITDA and an
improvement in EBITDA margin from 33%
to 38%.

And what about the balance sheet?

In 2003 we continued to exercise
proactive liability management to improve
our debt position.  As part of this program,
in September 2003 we issued a series of
debentures totaling THB 9 billion to prepay
certain bank loans. This and other steps
that we have taken have resulted in the
Company’s average cost of debt being
reduced to 4.99% at end 2003.

Then there’s the thorny issue of regulation.
What can you say on that topic?

The wireless telecommunication market
in Thailand is, and will remain, challenging
with or without the much anticipated
changes to the regulatory environment in
which we operate. There is still no
conclusion to the discussions between
service providers and the Thai Government
on regulatory reform in our sector but we
believe the Government is committed to
the introduction of equitable arrange-
ments that provide incentive to operators
to extend the scope and reach of our
ser vices. We remain committed to
working with all interested parties to find
a solution that meets the needs of the
Country.

Corporate governance is a nice buzzword.
But is it something you take to heart?

Like many companies around the world
events in the international capital markets
over the past few years have forced us
to look more closely at our governance
practices and procedures. In 2003
we established a Corporate Governance
Committee comprising senior manage-
ment of the Company that is charged with
institutionalizing good governance
practices in our Company.  We are
committed to reinforcing a culture of
sound corporate governance as a tool to
enhancing long-term shareholder value.

Anything else you’d like to add?

Of course, I must thank our management
and staff who have worked with such
dedication to deliver the impressive
results in 2003 and laid the groundwork
for an optimistic future for our Company.
Also, our shareholders for patience and
encouragement, our business partners and
suppliers who support what we are doing
and, of course, our valued customers
without whom none of this would be
possible.

dustry with the introduction of innovative
services developed with an unswerving
focus on meeting customer needs.  As a
result, 2003 saw the successful
introduction of what were to become
market-leading products.  “My” for
postpaid customers provides flexible
charging and billing options and
personalized budget management
features.  “Happy” Dprompt, a new
concept for those who prefer prepaid
services also caters to customer’s need
for choice and flexibility by providing,
amongst other benefits, a discounted tariff
in off-peak times that can be selected by
the customer.

But what about existing customers? How
did you keep them happy?

Our new product offerings are not only
designed to acquire new customers but
also retain and develop existing ones.
Towards this goal we have also worked
hard to enhance the quality of our
customer services, strengthen relation-
ships with our customers and work with
them to develop solutions that meet their
telecommunication needs. This focus has
resulted in not only an increase in our total
customer base but in us being able to
attract net new postpaid customers since
May 2003 against an industry trend of
operators losing postpaid customers to
prepaid services.

Is it fair to say network quality has been
high on the agenda in the past year?

For sure. The quality of the DTAC network,
in terms of both coverage and data

services capability  remained a
focus for us in 2003.  However,
capital expenditure in 2003 of
around THB 6 billion was
significantly lower than the
THB 23 billion and 13 billion
we spent in 2001 and 2002.
This is due largely to the scale
and quality of service that our
network has already achieved.
That said, in the coming years
we will continue to develop
our network including more
coverage in provincial
markets, platforms to provide
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“It strikes me that having two CEOs gives
us an edge. There’s a very good chemistry
between us. So when you put one and one
together, you come up with something
that’s more than two. It’s a powerful
par tnership when you have the same
focus, the same objective: it’s a synergy.
And that flows on down through the entire
company. We have superb teamwork in
DTAC, the directors, the staf f, our
partners, everyone is working as a team
towards our success. We had to achieve
a lot in a short time, so we do things
differently, in a unique way. We want our
customers to know that DTAC will go all
the way to satisfy them and keep them
happy. That’s our promise.’’

Vichai Bencharongkul, Co-CEO

My way …   to stay ahead of the pack
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Vision and Mission

“DTAC makes it easy:  that’s what we have
promised for three years now. What do we
mean by that? In early 2003, we devised
the four pillars that support the DTAC
brand, and we live by them, make all our
strategic decisions on the basis of them.
What are they? To be best in customer
service, best in service innovation, best
in network quality, and best in our
relationships with dealers and third
parties. For us, service innovation is more
important than the latest or greatest
gizmo or gadget. There’s a competitive
advantage in being unique, because
competitors find it difficult to respond to
something unique. The “me too’’ approach
rarely works. We always try to get the first
foot forward, so our competitors have had
to work very hard to respond to that in
the past year.’’

Grant Ferguson, CFO

“Creating a culture of innovation is an
organizational challenge. To do it, you
need three things. You need a flat
organization – you can’t waste your time
with too many layers, too many decision
points. You need to get the message
quickly from the top down and the bottom
up. You need to take risks. Otherwise
you’ll never move forward. And internal
change has to come from the top. I want
everyone in the company to know if the
CEOs can do it, I can do it. That’s why
you see Khun Vichai and me taking off our
ties, doing stunts, going ice skating,
singing rap songs. If the CEO can get
outside of the box, then everyone else in
the organization can too.’’

Sigve Brekke, Co-CEO

Best in
Customer
Services

Best in Dealer
Relationship

And Third Party
Relationship

Best in
Network
Quality

(Data Capable)

Best in
Services

Innovation

How we will achieve this?
The 4 Pillars of DTAC’s strategy

“EASY”
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Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Work experience

1990 - present Chairman of Board of Directors, Total Access Communication PLC.
2002 - present Chief Executive Officer, United Communication Industry PLC.
2002 - present Director, United Distribution Business Co. Ltd.
2001 - 2002 Chief Executive Officer, Total Access Communication PLC
1984 - 1999 Chief Executive Officer, United Communication Industry PLC.

Academic Background : Honorary Doctorial Degree in Economics Science, Ramkhamhaeng University
Bachelor of Arts in Business Management, Northern Illinois University, USA

My way …   to lead from the front

Mr. Sigve Brekke
Director & Co-Chief Executive Officer
Work experience

2002 - present Co-Chief Executive Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 - 2002 Managing Director,
Telenor Asia Pte, Ltd.

Academic Background : Master of Public Administration,
John F. Kennedy School of
Government, Harvard University,
USA

Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
Director & Co-Chief Executive Officer
Work experience

2002 - present Co-Chief Executive officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1991 - present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1993 - present Director,
United Communication Industry PLC.

2002 - present Director,
United Distribution business Co, Ltd.

2000 - present Director,
United Broadband Technology Co, Ltd.

Academic Background : Bachelor of Arts in Business Management
Norheastern Illinois University, USA

Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan
Vice Chairman & Chief Technology Officer
Work experience

2002 - present Chief Technology Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1993 - present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001 - 2002 Chief of Engineering Committee,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1999 - 2001 Chief Executive Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1986 - 1991 Senior Executive Vice President,
CAT Telecom Public Company Limited.

Academic Background : Master of Science in Electrical Engineering
Georgia Institute of Technology, USA

Mr. Arve Johansen
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

    Work experience
2002-present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1999-present Senior Executive Vice President,

Telenor Group and Chief Executive Officer, Telenor Mobile
2000-2002 Director,

Total Access Communication PLC.
Academic Background : Master of  M.Sc.EE (Telecommunications), Norwegian

Institute of Technology (Trondhiem, Norway)
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Introducing the Board of Directors

Mr. Per Olav Fosse
Director
 Work experience

2003-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1990-present Senior Vice President,
Telenor Mobile, Norway

1988-1990 Project and Development Engineer,
MCL Inc., Chicago, USA

Academic Background  : Master Degree in Business Administration,
Norwegian School of Management

Mr. Chulchit  Bunyaketu
Director
Work experience

2000-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1998-2003 Managing Director,
Thai Oil Company Limited.

Academic Background  : Master of Arts in Political Science,
Kent State University, USA

Mr. Soonthorn  Pokachaiyapat
Director
Work experience

2000-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1974-present Head of Chaiyapat Law Office
Academic Background : Bachelor of Laws, Thammasat University,

Thailand

M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
Director
Work experience

2000-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2002-present Chairman of Audit Committees
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001-present Chief Executive Officer to
His Royal Highness Crown Prince
of Thailand

      Academic Background : Master of Arts, Oxford University, UK

Mr. Pakkaporn   Sathienpakiranakorn
Director
Work experience

2001-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2003-present Executive Vice President
(Telecommunications Services)
CAT Telecom Public Company Limited

   Academic Background : Master of Science in Electrical Engineering,
Michigan State University , USA

Mrs. Tasanee   Manorot
Director
Work experience

2001-present Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1999-present Senior Executive Vice President (Finance)
TOT Corporation Public Company Limited

Academic Background  : Bachelor of Business Administration,
Chulalongkorn University, Thailand
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My way …   to think outside the box

Mr. Grant Ferguson
Chief Financial Officer

Work experience
2001 - present Chief Financial Officer,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1999 - 2000 Director and Chief Financial Officer,

Metro Pacific Corporation, Philippines
1998 - 1999 Director and Chief Financial Officer,

First Pacific Company, Indonesia
1996 - 1997 Vice President, Treasury,

First Pacific Company, Hong Kong
Academic Background : BSC (Honors) Business Management & Administration,

University of Aston Management Center, Birmingham,
United Kingdom

Mr. Sunti Medhavikul
Business Unit I  Director
Work experience

Present Business Unit I  Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2003 Postpaid Business Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001 - 2002 Sales Group Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 - 2001 Distribution Management Department Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background : Master of Business Administration, The University
of the Thai Chamber of Commerce, Thailand

Mr. Pitjapol Jantanasaro
Assistant Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/Internal Affairs
Work experience

2002 - present Assistant Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/
Internal Affairs,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001 - 2002 Senior Group Director - Corporate,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 - 2001 Deputy Managing Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1998 - 2000 Department Director of CSU,
United Communication Industry PLC.

Academic Background : Bachelor of Electrical Engineering,
King Mongkut’s Institute of Technology Ladkrabang,
Thailand

Mr. Petter Borre Furberg
Deputy Chief Financial Officer
Work experience

2002 – present Deputy Chief Financial Officer,
Total Access Communication PLC

2001-2002 VP Finance,
Telenor Mobile Communications

2000-2001                Telenor International  Business Controller
1999-2000 Manager,

DNB Corporate Banking Department
Academic Background : Master of science, Business Administration

from Norwegian School of Economics and
Business Administration

Mr. Rolf  Marthinusen
Deputy Chief Technology Officer

Work experience
2002- present Deputy Chief Technology Officer ,

Total Access Communication PLC.
2001 Senior Vice President for Network & Technology,

Telenor Mobile Communications
1998-2001 GSM Project Manager,

Norconsult Telematics, Saudi Arabia
Academic Background  : Master of Science in Electronic and Computer

Engineering, The University of Trondheim,
The Norwegian Institute of Technology

Mr. Premon Pinskul
Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Controller
Work experience

2002 - present Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Controller,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001 - 2002 Assistant Chief Financial Officer- Accounting,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 - 2001 Assistant Managing Director and Department Director of Accounting,
Total Access Communication PLC.

1999 - 2000 Assistant Managing Director and Department Director of CSU,
Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background : Master of Business Administration, University of Detroit, USA
Master of Arts (Economics), University of Detroit, USA

Ms. Kulvadee Kanjanabose
Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer

Work experience
1993 - present Assistant Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1997 - 1998 Chief Financial Officer and Vice President,

Wireless Communication Service Co; Ltd.
1986 - 1990 Siam Commercial Bank

Academic Background : Master of Business Administration,
University of North Texas, Denton, USA
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Executive Management

Mr. Vichai  Bencharongkul
    Director & Co-Chief Executive Officer

  Work experience
2002-present Co-Chief Executive Officer,

Total Access Communication PLC.
2002-present Director,

United Distribution Business Co, Ltd.
2000-present Director,

United Broadband Technology Co, Ltd.
1993-present Director,

United Communication Industry PLC.
1991-present Director,

Total Access Communication PLC.
Academic Background  : Bachelor of Arts in Business Management

Northeastern Illinois University, USA

Mr. Sigve Brekke
   Director & Co-Chief Executive Officer
   Work experience
     2002-present Co-Chief Executive Officer

Total Access Communication PLC.
     2000-present Director,

Total Access Communication PLC.
     1997-2002 Managing Director,

Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd.
  Academic Background  : Master Degree in Public Administration,

John F. Kennedy School of Government,
Harvard University, USA

Mr. Somlak  Sachjapinan
    Vice Chairman & Chief Technology Officer

Work experience
2002-present Chief Technology Officer,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1993-present Vice Chairman of Board of Directors,

Total Access Communication PLC.
2001-2002 Chief of Engineering Committee,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1999-2001 Chief Executive Officer ,

Total Access Communication PLC.
1986-1991 Senior Executive Vice President

CAT Telecom Public Company Limited
   Academic Background  : Master of Science in Electrical Engineering

Georgia Institute of Technology , USA

Mr. Thana Thienachariya
Business Unit II  Director
Work experience

Present Business Unit II Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2003 Prepaid Business Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2002 Product&Service Group Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2001 Consumer Product Management
Department Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

2000 Convergence Group Director,
Total Access Communication PLC.

Academic Background : Master of Business Administration,
Washington State University, USA
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My way …   to give something back

At DTAC, we don’t just pay lip service to the concept of being a good corporate
citizen – it is a fundamental part of our business philosophy. Just as we are committed
to delivering the best quality service to customers, so we stand firm in our pledge to
help develop Thai society. We do it enthusiastically. We do it continuously. We do it
because we care.

Road Safety Campaign

Road accidents are a major cause of
death in Thailand. DTAC is determined
to do its bit to help by distributing free
high-quality reflective car stickers to help
improve night-time visibility and reduce
accident rates. We are also now taking
the campaign a step further, with the
installation of traffic signs with safety-
first messages along major highways.

Sam Nuek Rak Ban Kerd Project

Our flagship community development
project, Rak Ban Kerd (“love your
hometown’’) is the brainchild of our
chairman Boonchai Bencharongkul. The
scheme began in 1998, with the aim of
promoting the country’s grassroots
development by providing scholarships
for junior high school (Matayom 1)
students to complete their education
through to university level. Each year,
76 bright young students, one from each
province, join the scheme. The idea is
that they will develop their knowledge
and leadership abilities and then use
those skills to contribute to the
development of their hometowns. To that
end, par ticipants must dedicate 10
percent of their scholarships to support
local income-generating activities. More
than 800 students are now studying
under the program, while the first group
of participants have now graduated with
bachelor degrees in areas including the
sciences, engineering, humanities and
education.

Rak Ban Kerd Shop

The Company has established a Thai
franchise convenience store network
that now boasts more than 400 shops,
offering general consumer products and
local produce. Using its expertise in data
communications, a new trading channel
has also been set up, linked to
www.Rakbankerd.com. The aim is to
create mutual support, linking trading
between wholesalers and retailers in
communities and villages. Retailers can
join forces to get better wholesale
prices. The company also shares
knowledge on management, inventory,
product display and new business
oppor tunities, as well as providing
mobile phones and prepaid cards to sell
at shops as part of a new income source
on a fair basis.
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DTAC and the Community

Environmental Conservation

Thailand’s environment is another area
where DTAC believes actions speak louder
than words. We have committed ourselves
to the “Battery For Life’’ campaign in
which we volunteer to collect old or
unused mobile phone batteries. Old
batteries are increasing in numbers by the
day, although many phone users are
unaware of the environmental hazard they
pose if carelessly disposed of. That’s why

Tourist Signboards

DTAC recognises that tourism is one of
the key strategies in national economic
development, and one that does not
require heavy investment given the
magnitude of resources available in the
country. However, we wish to be a part of
tourism development in Thailand, so we
have decided to contribute by erecting
information signboards at key tourist
destinations around the country. Some
430 signboards were erected last year,
with another 332 planned in the next 12
months. The signboards contain useful and
interesting information for both local and
international holidaymakers.

Happy Festival 2004 Bangkok
Countdown

DTAC was honoured to be one of the major
hosts of the Bt 100 million festival to usher
in the New Year that was held on the
Thonburi riverbank under the Rama 8
Bridge. More than 100,000 revellers
flocked to the event, which was a huge
success.

Ruamduay Chuaykan Co-operatives
Project

This project is designed to help Thai
farmers by supporting the development of
wholesale distribution channels, and
building a network between farmers and
consumers in local and overseas markets.
The project supports His Majesty the
King’s “third-step’’ theory by supporting
rice mills for groups of farmers from
Nongpan in Kalasin province, and also from
Sornsrisawang in Roi Et. The co-operatives
collect savings from members to buy
seeds from farmers at a fair price, while
improving quality control to ensure the
province’s rice mills are operating at a
standard comparable with private
companies. The rice is sold under the
“Ruamduay Chuaykan’’ brand.

Ruamduay Chuaykan Community
Radio

The Company is dedicated to the mission:
Make the City a Better Place. To that end,
we run a community radio station, INN,
on FM 96.0 MHz. It allows Bangkok
residents to lend each other a helping
hand. Since being set up three years ago,
the station has helped hundreds of people
with their problems every single day.

we take in batteries from consumers,
regardless of which mobile operator they
choose to use. Last year, we collected
more than 5 tonnes of old batteries, which
were then disposed of in a completely safe
and responsible manner by a qualified
industrial waste management firm.
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“Tell everybody I’m on my way
And I just can’t wait to be there
With blue skies ahead yes
I’m on my way. And nothing but
good times to share”

Phil Collins
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Operations
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“DTAC was put to a test
of strength last year.
We had to do a lot of
things at the same
time, and expect
nothing but success.

We are fighting in a ver y dynamic
market, there are very sophisticated
customers, an unfair regulator y
environment, plus we have to fight to
strengthen trust in our brand. So we are
fighting, and winning, a war on many
fronts. Our operating performance has
improved, investment community
confidence is good, our share price is
up. And people are talking about us as
the ‘colour’ of the industry, we made the
mobile market a bit spicier in the past
year.

Okay, so Boss magazine  nominated me
Boss of the Year for 2003. That’s OK, to
the extent that it reflects the value we
place on our employees ... the DTAC
team. But really, I think the recognition
that we received as the most innovative
operator in the country is what pleases
me most. Our Happy package has

My way …   to fight the good fight

“When last year started,
we had three main
challenges. One was to
get back on revenue
growth, as there was no
way we could continue

to have flat revenues like we did in 2002.
This business is all about growth. If you
want healthy net profits, you need
topline growth. With more players
coming into the market, we also had to
build our brand, to change perceptions.
What is DTAC all about? How are we
different? In less than three years, DTAC
has gone from around one million
customers to more than six million
customers, while the market went from
two operators to five operators. So we
had to compete in this kind of dynamic
market.

In terms of success, we did a lot in all of
these areas. Our revenues went up
significantly, and by more than expected.
If you look at our major achievements,
we stopped the bleeding in the postpaid
sector, and not only did we stop it, we
have turned it around and had small but
continuous growth since May. We have
implemented very aggressive anti-churn
activities. We lost about 600,000 post-
paid customers in 2002, but since May,
we have been winning them back at
around 5,000 customers per month.
None of our competitors have managed
that. Of course, 2002 saw a dramatic

tremendously changed the prepaid market
in Thailand. Our competitors looked at the
prepaid business as something you can
package and sell cheaply, but we looked
at it as how we could offer the most cost-
effective, value-for-money package for our
customers. We introduced flexibility,
choice. We gave customers the ability to
choose the tariff, to tailor their package
so they get a discount during the hours
when they want to talk.

It’s the same for our MY package on the
postpaid side. It’s a fundamentally simple
but very effective concept – the more you
use, the lower tariff you get. When you
buy something more than one time, or buy
a lot of something, your normal impulse
is, hey, can I get some discount? That’s
what we’ve tapped into. Our customers
feel appreciated. That’s been our unique
selling point. Last year, our competitors
had to scramble to copy us, our concepts,
our ads, our prices. Let me tell you, when
you force your biggest competitor to copy
you, that’s what I call fun.’’

Vichai Bencharongkul, Co-CEO
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Markets and Operations

The story of 2003 really starts
at the end of the third quarter
of 2002. By that time, the
market had gone through
something like 200 percent
growth in the space of two
years. Up until then, all the

focus had been on subscriber numbers,
getting new customers. So for those two
years, our focus had to be a customer
acquisition strategy. But it became clear
around September of 2002 that the rate
of growth was going to start slowing, and
slowing quite dramatically.

Our challenge was how to keep the
momentum going. We had done a lot of
hard work to get the customers. In 2003
we had to work to give them added value,
get them comfortable with using our
services and focus on attracting quality
customers. It’s easy to take a short-term
view, a knee-jerk reaction to try to get
more market share. But the real value is

swing to prepaid services in the market –
by December 2002 prepaid customers
accounted for 75 percent of the market,
and 77 percent of our customer base. At
December 2003, that stands at 82
percent.

On the prepaid side, I’m delighted with our
Happy package. We’ve built a whole
concept, happy name, happy colours,
happy songs, happy premiums, a happy
mood. It really took our competitors by
surprise.

The riskiest thing Khun Vichai and I have
done is to go on television, we’re in four
or five different advertising spots. There
is so much noise and clutter in the market,
such a jumble of commercials, so even
with big, big money it’s dif ficult to
distinguish yourself. We thought, if we
want to show people DTAC is serious about
being different, no one can tell people
about the company and its plans better
than its CEOs. So we went on television
and made a serious commitment to being
the best. The spots were a little bit funny,
a little bit touching. We are about
innovation, but we’re also about emotion.
I believe CEO doesn’t only stand for Chief
Executive Officer, but Chief Emotional
Officer, because in this business, it’s all
about creating emotions.’’

Sigve Brekke, Co-CEO

in taking on a better quality customer, and
retaining the best of the existing
customers. We want our customers to feel
good, feel comfortable with the pricing
structures, feel they’re getting value for
money. That is the best way to encourage
more usage and keep your best
customers.

With the launch of TA Orange and Hutch
over the last couple of years, as you would
expect we gave us some customer market
share. We have around 30 percent of the
customers in the market and we’re happy
with that. Our strategies are now focused
on market share of revenue and turning
that into profitability, as that is what
creates shareholder value. As a result of
this approach, in 2003 we saw our share
of market revenues increase while our
share of customers was stable.

Grant Ferguson, CFO

Postpaid package ( As of March 15, 2004 )

Dmax Family1 Maximize2

No No No
1,200 baht Start with 250 baht 1,200 baht
600 minutes 75 minutes 600 minutes
2 baht/minute, After 75th minute, 2 baht/minute,
nationwide the per minute charge more minutes of use per call

decreases every get discount up to 20%
minute, nationwide for that call,nationwide

Per-second billing Per-second billing Per-second billing

Package my Dlite Dmedium
Monthly Fee No 250 Baht/month No
Bundle fee Start with 350 baht No 750 baht
Free minutes/month 75 minutes No 250 minutes
Tariff rates After 75th minute, 4 baht/minute, 3 baht/minute,

the per minute charge nationwide nationwide
decreases every minute,
nationwide

Charging method Per-second billing Per-second billing Per-second billing

Prepaid package

Package Happy Dprompt Baby SIM
Starter Kit 500 baht 199 baht
Free minute / month 100 baht with 40 day time span 50 baht with 40 day time span
Monthly Fee No No
Tariff Rate 5 baht / minute for normal 5 baht / minute nationwide

call time, nationwide
2.50 baht / minute for
Happy time, nationwide

Charging Method Per-second billing Per-second billing
Refill Card Structure

50 baht   with 3 day time span 50 baht with 5 day time span
200 baht with 20 day time span 200 baht with 30 day time span
300 baht with 30 day time span 300 baht with 45 day time span
400 baht with 50 day time span 400 baht with 60 day time span

Note:
1. Family:

-  Supplementary line to main subscription in my, Dlite, Dmedium or Dmax package.
-  Expenses are shown on the main subscription’s bill.
-  Maximum of 2 supplementary lines are allowed.

2. Maximize:
-  Maximize card for special discounts at 750 shops
-  Secretarial services
-  Privileged customer service
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My way …   to turn the tide

In 2002, the postpaid business was on the downward trend.
Every operator faced the same problem. In 2003, we set an
objective to turn around the postpaid business. We were
going against the market trend, trying to swim against the

market tide.

That’s why we initiated the my package. Its selling points
were that customers could set their own limits to control
their bill, nominate what time of month they wanted to
be billed, and reward people with cheaper rates for
increased usage. Since we introduced this innovative
package, we’ve turned things around, and we’re adding
5,000 new customers every month.

We’re doing this by focusing on four segments of the postpaid market. First, there are
the corporate accounts. We have around 4,000 accounts in this sector, and we work
with them to focus on M2M (machine to machine) and MMS (multi-media messaging
service) solutions that we tailor to their needs. We’re working with partners like
Microsoft, Hewlett Packard and IBM to develop these solutions.

Second is the SME segment. It’s a big potential market – there are 400,000 registered
companies in Thailand, so that’s a lot of new prospective customers if you offer them
the right product. Our SME package offers ways to cut costs by putting, say, 10
subscriptions on one bill, and offering special rates for calls between phones in the
company.

Third is the high-end customer, the sort of person who spends a lot of money on
mobile services. We are putting together packages to satisfy them even more. And
the fourth area is the premium consumer group, which  is typically a mass market
consumer, who we try to provide with a product that better meets his needs. We use

information systems and sophisticated
research to better understand customer
behaviour, wants and attitudes to create
life-enhancing products and to promote
greater loyalty.

Our competitors appeared to respond
slowly to all of this. They seemed to
think that because market growth was
primarily in the prepaid sector there was
little need to focus on postpaid
customers. We think that’s a short-
sighted approach.

In the past year, we’ve cut churn rates,
and  we’ve cut bad debt (from 10
percent in 2002 to around 7 percent in
2003). In 2004, we will continue to
refine and build on the my platform. It’s
going to be exciting.

How do I see DTAC? We are diverse,
innovative and above all, we try harder.
We’re not just selling a dream, we make
things happen. We talk the talk – and
then we walk the walk.

Sunti Medhavikul, Postpaid Business
Director
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The prepaid  market continued to grow at
a high level in 2003, not as high as 2002
but still  significant growth. Around the
end of May, we launched Happy Dprompt,
and we are very happy with the results
since that rebranding.

Before we started the Happy campaign,
there was no choice for prepaid
customers, it was all the same, 5 baht
per minute, charged by the second. We
were first to give consumers a choice by
dividing the day into four time slots. 9am-
3pm is Good Day, 3pm-7pm is Good
Evening, 9pm-Midnight is Good Time, and
Midnight-9am is Good Night, with callers

able to nominate their “Happy Time’’ and
be charged just 2.50 baht per minute after
the first 30 seconds of each call. We drew
900,000 new subscribers in the first three
months of the launch, and forced our
competitors to follow our lead.

The prepaid market has also become very
competitive, of course, but we have
managed to increase both revenue and
market share in the past year.

The churn rate is also quite acceptable
compared to our regional peers, at around
30 percent per year. Prepaid is very much
a mass market business, and a lot of the
customers are not that sensitive to
advertising but very sensitive to price.

We have seen a trend of people having
more than one SIM card, so they will
switch between operators depending on
who has the best deal. One of our
strengths is that our network can now
offer almost all the same technology as
for postpaid customers, which means
MMS, GPRS  and other services like game
downloads.

And we continue to innovate. We have also
just launched a new service called “Baby
SIM”, as part of the Happy brand. We
don’t give any discount on tariff, but we
extend the validity period.  Again we’re
leading the industry – this is for light users,
who mainly want to receive calls without
having to refill as often. It’s a big hit
already.

Thana Thienachariya, Prepaid Business
Director

My way …   to take control
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Network Development
My way …   to get tuned in

We may not have the biggest network, but our commitment is to
have the best quality network. So we have promised to be the best in
the 20 biggest cities and provinces, where most of the customers
are. Our GSM network now reaches 92 percent of the population.
Now we’re focused on fine-tuning the network. In Bangkok, we’re
already the best – a survey in September by Real Time Access

Communication, an independent company, rated us best in the capital for network
quality. Our commitment is to be the operator with the best voice quality in the 10
biggest cities in Thailand within the first quarter of 2004, then the best in the biggest
20 cities by the second quarter. We have now appointed Nokia to be our sole network
supplier, which enables us to deploy new technologies faster and more efficiently. In
the course of 2003, 487 new sites were added to the network, bringing the total

sites to 4,762. We aim to have more
than 5,000 base stations nationwide.
We’re rolling them out at an average rate
of 2.5 per day, and our new agreement
with Nokia will not only give us world-
class mobile data capabilities but also
a major competitive advantage.

Somlak Sachjapinan, CTO

Our distribution has been
a key to our success in
acquiring subscribers over
the past two years.
Channels include DTAC
shops, independent

dealers,and non-telecom outlets. As
of 31 December 2003, there were 23
ser vice halls and 10 DTAC shops
operated by the company and 363
franchised DTAC shops. There were also
752 registered independent dealers and
14,787 telecom and non-telecom
outlets. Moreover, the company also
entered into a distribution agreement
with Thailand’s largest distributor of
consumer products, Saha Pathanapibul,
and fashion and cosmetics group ICC
International, to extend its distribution
network throughout Thailand. As a
result, Happy DPrompt’s refill cards will
be available in more than 50,000 retail
stores and 3,000 ICC counters.

But in 2003 we also had to get much
smarter and more innovative. To have
total happiness, you must have five
things, right? The five senses must be

fulfilled, taste, touch, sight, sound and
feeling. We teamed up with GMM Grammy
to associate our brand with entertainment,
and sponsored concerts with Thongchai
McIntyre, the most popular singer in
Thailand, and Doraemon, the cartoon
character. In a concert, you can appeal to
feeling, hearing, seeing. And we did a joint
promotion with Nestle Icecream, so our
refill cards are sold by more than 30,000
icecream carts and vendors, while Nestle
icecream is offered at our DTAC shops.

We did a big brandbuilding exercise by
sponsoring the New Year’s Eve countdown
at the Rama VIII bridge, which was a huge
event. And we have launched the Happy
Outdoor campaign. We have revived the
practice of showing outdoor movies in rural
areas. This year, we’ll stage 500 events,
and we get crowds of up to 1,000 people.
We can sur vey people, open new
distribution centres, sell our product, and
do brand-building by adver tising our
product before the movie.

Thana Thienachariya, Prepaid Business
Director

My way …   to keep the customer satisfied
Customer Service and Distribution Channels

GSM NETWORK

Active Cell Sites Switching Centers Switching Capacity

2002 4,275 25 7,110,000

2003 4,762 25 7,710,000

Third par ty and dis-
tribution is one of our four
pillars. We have a lot of
agreements with third
parties, we have an open
partnership model. We focus on our core
competencies and have partners to
add value to what we do. We have more
than 150 content providers we are
working with on data services, we have
15 par tners to work on corporate
services, we have distribution partners
like Nestle, and we’re teaming up with
other partners for revenue sharing and
reaching into new areas.

At every single customer touch point, I
want us to be the most customer
friendly. I want us to be the best.

Sigve Brekke, Co-CEO
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Total Access Communication Public Company Limited was founded in August 1989 to provide wireless
telecommunication services in 800 MHz and 1800 MHz frequency bands under a concession granted by CAT
Telecom Public Company Limited.

Major events in the Company’s development in subsequent years include:

Milestones



26 |   DTAC

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Risk from changes in regulation of
telecommunications business

In connection with its entry into the
World Trade Organization in 1995,
Thailand under took cer tain com-
mitments to liberalize its telecom-
munications industr y by 2006. To
achieve these goals, the two major state
owned telecommunications ser vice
providers, TOT Corporation Public
Company Limited (“TOT”) and the  CAT
Telecom Public Company Limited
(“CAT”), have been corporatized, and are
preparing for a public offering of their
stock.  A new regulator y regime
consisting principally of two new
legislative acts, were enacted in 2001
to provide guidelines for industr y
reforms, including industry liberalization,
facilitation of new market entrants,
changes to the industry's competitive
structure and overall regulation of the
industry. However, as this legislation has
not yet been fully implemented, there is
uncertainty regarding the interpretation,
implementation and effect of this new
legislation and the current regulatory
environment relating to the Thai
telecommunications industry. Areas of
uncer tainty in the Thai regulator y
environment which may af fect the
Company include:

•  The establishment of National
Telecommunication Commission
(“NTC”): The Act on Organizations
Allocating Frequency Waves and
Super vising Radio and Television
Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Business (the “NTC/NBC Act”) provides
for the establishment of an NTC, an
independent regulatory body, with the
authority to establish rules and
regulations governing the telecom-
munications industry. As at 31 December
2003, the process of selecting members
of the NTC was ongoing but with no
specific timeframe for completion.

•   Interconnection: This is a part of a
reform framework that has been the
subject of substantive discussion
between telecommunication operators
and the Government during 2003.
Operators and the Government have

continued to work toward the introduction
of equitable arrangements for charging for
traffic crossing more than one network,
but the timeframe for the implementation
of such arrangements is still uncertain.

•   Concession conversion: In January
2003, an excise tax levied on
telecommunication operators was
introduced by the Government which in
part replaces revenue sharing obligations
under concessions. The ongoing
discussions on a framework for regulatory
reform include possible changes to the
existing concessions and in particular
revenue sharing arrangement but as at 31
December 2003 there is no set timeframe
for the completion of the discussion and
therefore the impact, if any, on the
Company, operationally or financially,
cannot yet be assessed.

•  Foreign shareholding limit: The
Telecommunications Act 2001 limits
foreign shareholding in telecommunication
businesses to 25%.  This may restrict the
Company in obtaining a license from the
NTC should this be required under the
framework for regulator y change.
However, the Act provides the right of
existing operators to continue businesses
on the same basis as licensees.  To
conform with the situation that non-Thai
shareholders already have interests in
more than 25% of the operators’ issued
share capital, the Government has
approved to an increase in the foreign
ownership limit from 25% to 49% and will
present an amendment to the Act to
parliament for approval.

Risk from competition

Increased competition in the market for
telecommunications services in Thailand
may cause our revenues and margins to
suffer. We are currently one of three
wireless telecommunications service
providers that collectively provide wireless
services to over 95% of the market.
However, certain of our competitors are not
obligated to pay access fees to the TOT or
make revenue sharing payments under a
concession, and accordingly may be able
to price their services more aggressively
than we are or otherwise operate profitably
at lower price levels. In addition, as a result
of the ongoing liberalization of the Thai

“You need to take risks.
We are telling our
people don’t look for
100 percent solutions. If
you’re not willing to take
some risks, you’ll never

move. I tell them to go by the “80-20
rule’’. If you’re 80 percent sure
something will work, go with it.’’

“We need a distinguished position in
the market, otherwise we can get
squeezed between the big guy and the
small guy. Being number two is always
difficult. We are not the cheapest –
the small guy is – and we don’t have
the biggest range of services – the big
guy does. So the DTAC way is to try in
all we do to be dif ferent. In our
advertising, our packages, our working
style, we must distinguish ourselves
from our competitors. That’s what the
DTAC way is all about.’’

Sigve Brekke, Co-CEO

My way …   to walk the tight rope

telecommunications market, certain
market participants, and possible new
market entrants, may add to the level of
market competitiveness. However, given
the scale that the Company has achieved
in both network coverage and customer
base, well established market position,
widely recognized brands and sound
financial position, we believe that we will
be able to maintain our competitiveness
and remain a leading operator in the
wireless services business.

Risk from slower rate of market growth

In line with general trends in the market,
our customer base has increased from
2.7 million as of 31 December 2001 to
6.6 million as of 31 December 2003.
We may not experience the rate of
growth of new customers as we did in
the past.  However, we believe that the
market will continue to grow both in
terms of customers and revenue but at
a slower rate.   Therefore, we will be
more reliant on increases in customer
usage of voice, data and other value
added ser vices for growth of our
revenues.
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Risk and Mitigation

Risk from change in technology

Technology in the wireless telecom-
munications industr y is constantly
developing.   The Company currently
operates on the most advanced GSM
technology including high-speed data
using a GPRS (General Packet Radio
Services) platform.  Even thought third
generation (or 3G) technology is now
being deployed in a number of advanced
markets, we believe that the demand for
very high capacity and speed wireless
data services in Thailand is still limited.
The Company plans a limited deployment
of Enhanced Data-Rates for GSM Evolution
(EDGE) technology in 2004 in areas with
high demand for data services.  EDGE
technology provides higher data
transmission speed by up to 3 times GPRS.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Risk from concentration of credit exposure

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd.
(“UD”) is the principal distributor of DTAC
Phone Kits, Star ter Kits, SIM Card
Packages and vouchers to wholesale and
retail outlets in Thailand. Most of these
products are sold to UD for distribution
through our distribution network and
accordingly a large percentage of our
accounts receivable are due to us from
UD. As of 31 December 2003, Baht 2,612
million were owed to us by UD.  However,
the credit terms to UD are on normal
business term, and UD earns a certain
margin as stipulated in the agreement.  To
date, UD has had a good payment record.

Risk from currency exchange

The Company uses various financial
instruments to swap its foreign currency
denominated debt into Thai Baht to the
fullest extent practicable to hedge its debt
obligations against risk resulting from
fluctuations of foreign currency exchange
rates. As at 31 December 2003, approx-
imately 33% of our total outstanding
long-term debt was denominated in foreign
currencies and its principles as well as
interests were fully hedged.

A substantial portion of our current capital
expenditure commitments and future
capital expenditures and a portion of our
operating expenses are denominated in,
and may be financed in, foreign currencies.
To mitigate the risk, the Company enters
into forward exchange contracts where
deemed appropriate.  In all derivative or
other liability management transactions,
the Company seeks to minimize counter
party risk by adopting a policy of only
transacting with Financial Institutions with
a minimum “A” credit rating.  Moreover,
the Company considers a number of
factors in addition to cost before entering
into agreements, such as market
conditions and mechanisms, including
flexibility and liquidity considerations.

Risk from Bill Collection of Telephone
Services

The Company’s customers can pay for
service on a prepaid or postpaid basis.
There is no collection risk for prepaid
customers as they pay in advance.
Postpaid customers are issued monthly
invoices to collect ser vice fees
subsequent to usage.  To comply with the
Telecommunication Services Act 2001
which prohibits operators from collecting
deposits for service, the Company stopped
collecting a deposit of THB 3,000 per
number registered on a postpaid basis.
However, various measures are used to
manage the risk of bad debt, including
fraud detection systems, setting up credit
limits relative to the customers’ behavior
patterns, automated and personal
payment reminder procedures, automated
pre-registration screening systems,
independent debt collection, follow-up
procedures for over-due amounts,
appropriate debt recovery legal action
where necessary and sanctions against
dealers who are determined to have
colluded with the bad debt customers. The
Company also provides incentives to pay
bills on time by offering points for reward
programs.

“An appreciation of
business risk is something
we are taking steps to
formalize within the
organization. Last year we
created a revenue

assurance function tasked with
looking at the entire revenue
generation cycle, looking for holes in
the process, to help ensure that we
are getting maximum revenue from the
services we provide, we are  capturing
all the calls, billing all the calls
properly, recovering money we’re
owed. In this game, revenue leakage
is a big business risk.’’

Grant Ferguson, CFO

As at 31 December 2003, the amount of
accounts receivable from bills 150 days
overdue was THB 390 million, or 18% of
the accounts receivable from telephone
services, and accounted for 2.7% of the
postpaid revenues.  The Company also
sets up allowances for doubtful accounts
as a cer tain percentage of postpaid
revenue and aging of account receivable
on a progressive basis.  All balances
outstanding for more than 150 days are
provided for in full. In 2003, the Company’s
provision for doubtful accounts accounted
for 7% of postpaid revenues (10% in 2002).
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My way …   to live on the edge

Operators
Currently there are seven wireless services operators in the country.

Wireless service are generally provided
by private sector operators operating
under concessions in the form of Build-
Transfer-Operate (“BTO”) granted by two
state enterprises, which have now been
corporatized as TOT Corporation Public
Company Limited (“TOT”) and CAT
Telecom Public Company Limited
(“CAT”), under super vision of the
Ministry of Information and Commu-
nication Technology. TOT and CAT also
provide wireless services directly to
consumers.

Under the BTO arrangement, we, and the
other private sectors operators providing
ser vices under a concession, are
required to build and operate cellular
network and provide services on a
revenue sharing basis with the state
agency awarding the concession (in our
case CAT) in return for on exclusive right
to the use of the allocated frequency
band. Network infrastructure is
transferred to the concession-granting
agency once it is installed.  We also has
the exclusive right to use the assets
transferred for the term of the
concession.

The rate of growth in customers in the
wireless services market in 2003 was
slower than the rate in the past two
years.  At end 2003, there were 22
million customers, a 27% increase YoY,
compared to a 30% growth in total
ser vice revenues in 2003.  Of the
customers in the market, approximately
18 million were prepaid customers and
accounted for 81% of the market.  Three
operators including DTAC have a
combined market share of over 95%.

Source: Company

Industry Dynamics

Operator Major shareholder System Concession Concession
granted by end

DTAC UCOM (42%) AMPS 800-band B CAT 2018

Telenor (30%)            GSM 1800

TOT (9%)

AIS* SHIN (43%) NMT 900 TOT 2016

SingTel (19%) GSM 900

DPC AIS (98%) GSM 1800 CAT 2018

TA-Orange SA (49%) GSM 1800 CAT 2018

TA (44%)

CP Group (7%)

Hutchison/CAT Hutchison (65%) CDMA 800- band A N/A N/A

CAT (35%)

TOT State Enterprise NMT 470 N/A N/A

Thai Mobile TOT (55%) GSM 1900 N/A N/A

CAT (40%)

Note : * As of 22 Aug 03

Source:  Company
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As market growth slows, it’s natural that
Value Added Ser vices become

something to focus on. In
2003, data services like
SMS went from being a
novelty to a part of most
people’s day-to-day life.
We are seeing GPRS

(General Packet Radio Service) usage
increasing month on month. It’s not big
figures yet, but it’s starting to show real
potential for growth. We have the best
GPRS network in the country – in fact,
we’re the only operator offering GPRS
throughout our whole network.

In 2003, we were the first operator in
Thailand to trial EDGE, which will really
change the playing field as far as data

Value Added Services

Wireless Services Sector

services go. It will more than double
data speeds and means users will be
able to access the regular internet more
and more from their handset. The first
EDGE-capable handsets are coming on
line now. It’s a more broadband kind of
data throughout. We tried it, said yes,
it works, then we parked it. We’ll launch
it when there are handsets and
applications that can utilize the data
speeds. Our main competitor has already
launched it, but we chose to wait until
probably some time in 2004. It shows
the different approaches. Theirs is a
technology approach, it exists, therefore
we must launch it. For us, it’s available,
we understand it, but we will not launch
it until we can of fer something
meaningful to our customer.

Somlak Sachjapinan, CTO

Total Market share of Customers at end 2003

Source: Company/AIS/TA
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We believe that the competitive
environment in the wireless telecom-
munication industr y in Thailand has
generally changed from one focused on
subscriber growth and market share to a
segmented approach to increasing
revenues and profitability.  However,
certain operators with substantially less
market share and network coverage are
still adopting price based promotions to

Source: Company

acquire customers, but to a lesser extent
than in the past.  We continue to pursue
and develop its strategies to lead the
market with innovative products, for both
voice and data services, to meet the
needs of market segments, cooperate with
partners to develop business solutions and
expand network distribution, enhance the
quality of our customer services, and
improve the quality of the cellular network.

Customers

Service revenes

Unit: Mil

Unit: Mil Bt
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My way …   to bring a smile to shareholders

Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

Information on Share Capital and Shareholding
As at 10 March 2004

Share Capital
Authorized Share Capital :   Bt 5,350,010,260
Issued Share Capital :   Bt 4,744,161,260
Class of Share :   Ordinary Shares of Bt 10 each
Voting Rights :   One vote per share

Distribution of Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 20,007 99.87 21,607 0.005

1,000 - 10,000 8 0.04 20,200 0.004

10,001 - 1,000,000 13 0.06 2,424,986 0.51

1,000,001 and above 5A 0.02 471,949,333 99.48

Total 20,033 100.00 474,416,126B 100.00

A. Includes CDP (see details in the Statistics of shareholding in the CDP in Singapore, page 31).

B. In accordance with SGX-ST’ s Listing Rule 723 (at least 10% is required to be held by public), 19.47% of the issued share is held as part of the public float.

Substantial Shareholdings (Holding 5% and above)

Direct Interest Indirect Interest1

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

  United Communication Industry Public Company Limited 197,538,593 41.64 - -

  Telenor Asia Pte Ltd.2 142,024,800 29.94 339,563,393 71.58

  TOT Corporation Public Company Limited 42,829,050 9.03 - -

1. Unlike Singapore incorporated companies which are listed on the SGX-ST, the Company does not maintain a Register of Substantial Shareholders or a
Register of Directors’ Shareholding.  The shareholders of the Company are not required under the Singapore Companies Act to provide the Company with
notices of substantial shareholding or of changes in substantial shareholding.  Similarly, the Directors are not required to provide the Company with notices
of changes in their respective indirect interests in the Shares. Accordingly, the information relating to indirect interests of the relevant shareholders and
Directors is based on knowledge of the Company except where the relevant indirect interest relates to Shares owned through a direct securities account
which the relevant shareholder or Director has opened with CDP in which case the information will be based the number of Shares standing to the credit of
his securities account with CDP.

2. Telenor is entitled to exercise 20 percent or more of the votes attached to the voting shares of UCOM. Accordingly, Telenor is deemed to have an indirect
interest in the 197,538,893 Shares owned by UCOM.

Ten Largest Shareholders

No. Name No. of Shares %
1. United Communication Industry Public Company Limited 196,700,565 41.46
2. Telenor Asia Pte Ltd. 142,024,800 29.94
3. The Central Depostitory (Pte) Limited *** 89,350,429 18.83
4. TOT Corporation Public Company Limited 42,829,050 9.03
5. Bankthai Public Company Limited 1,044,489 0.22
6. Mrs. Wanna  Chirakiti 1,000,000 0.21
7. CAT Telecom Public Company Limited 500,000 0.11
8. CDP Nominees Private Limited*** 314,200 0.07
9. Vickers Ballas & Company Pte. Ltd. 109,186 0.02

10. Ms. Phorjai Ruengsri 100,000 0.02

*** See details on the Statistics of Shareholding in the CDP in Singapore, Page 31
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Shareholder Structure

Distribution of Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1 - 999 442 17.53 163,658 0.18

1,000 - 10,000 1,743 69.14 6,415,595 7.16

10,001 - 1,000,000 328 13.01 17,280,990 19.27

1,000,001 and above 8 0.32 65,804,986 73.39

Total 2,521 100.00 89,665,229 100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders

   No. Name No. of Shares %
1 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 26,064,600 29.07
2 Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 10,963,648 12.23
3 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 10,355,849 11.55
4 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 9,265,913 10.33
5 Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd 2,710,200 3.02
6 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 2,173,743 2.42
7 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,152,833 2.40
8 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 2,118,200 2.36
9 DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 988,600 1.10

10 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 937,400 1.05
11 G K Goh Stockbrokers Pte Ltd 753,252 0.84
12 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 619,000 0.69
13 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 578,516 0.65
14 Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 577,422 0.64
15 Neo Aik Soo 550,000 0.61
16 Chua Ghee Wah 302,000 0.34
17 Koh Choon Yong 287,000 0.32
18 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 258,200 0.29
19 Lim Ai Keng 243,400 0.27
20 Tay Yee Tian 235,000 0.26

TOTAL 72,134,776 80.44

Detail of the Shareholdings by the Central Depository (CDP) in Singapore

As at 10 March 2004
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My way …   to toe the line

The Director and Management of the
Company are committed to the practice
of appropriate corporate governance to
protect long-term shareholder value
through enhancing corporate
performance and accountability, whilst
taking into account the interests of all
stakeholders.  A Corporate Governance
Committee comprising senior executives
of the Company has been established to
promote the Company’s adherence to
the principals of good corporate
governance in accordance with
internationally accepted practices and
standards recognized by shareholders,
investors, regulators and other
stakeholders.

The following broadly outlines the
Company’s corporate governance
practices and procedures.  For ease of
reference, these have been set out under
the principles established in the
Corporate Governance Code for
companies listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST”).

Board Matters

Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and
control the Company

The duties and responsibilities of the
Board of Directors are set out in the
Company’s Articles of Association, in the
Thai Public Company Limited Act and in
the regulations of SGX-ST.

The principal duties and responsibilities
of the Board of Directors are to:

• Authorize and delegate
responsibility for the performance of the
Company’s business in accordance with
the law, the Company’s objectives and
Articles of Association, and resolutions
of Shareholders’ in general meetings.

•   Establish the Company’s vision
and strategic directions and supervise
management in the implementation of
these.

•   Ensure that the Company has
internal control systems including an
independent Internal Audit Department
and Committee of the Board, and
covering such matters as related party

transactions and repor ting to the
shareholders and regulators.

•   Report accurate and sufficient
financial and other relevant information to
the shareholders and investors generally.

The Board of Directors also defines the
powers and authority of management to
approve different types of transactions by
way of a Corporate Authority Index. This
authority covers:
1. Capital Expenditures
2. Expenditures
3. Personnel
4. Procurement
5. Contracting Out
6. Selling Policy
7. Finance
8. Accounting

9. Disposal and Write Off Policy
10. Public Disclosure Policy
11. Customer Service Policy
12. Computer System Authorization

The Company’s Articles of Association
also provides guidelines for transactions
and matters that require Board approval,
which are generally those that are other
than in the normal course of business or
are not specified in the Corporate
Authority Index.

The Board of Directors meets as required
but at least on a quarterly basis.  During
the financial year ended 31 December
2003, the Board of Directors held 4
meetings.  The Directors’ attendance at
those meetings was as follows:

To ensure that incoming directors are
familiar with the Company’s business, and
governance practices, all relevant
information on the Company’s business is
made available to new directors when first
appointed to the Board and orientation
program may be conducted for the new
directors upon request.

The Company from time to time informs
the Directors regarding appropriate
available training courses, which would
help them to discharge their duties as the
member of the Board.

Board Composition and Balance

Principle 2: Strong and independent
element on the Board

Currently, the Board consists of eleven
Directors, including three Independent
Directors, three of whom are nominated
by UCOM, three nominated by Telenor,
and one each by TOT and CAT.  Details
of their academic and professional
qualifications and other appointments
are set out on pages 12 to 13.

Given the specific nature of these
nominating procedures, they vary in
some aspects from those suggested in
the Code of Corporate Governance
specifically with regards to the number
of independent directors making up at
least one-third of the board.

As at 31 December 2003, the members
of the Board of Directors were:

             No. of Meetings Attended
Board

of Audit Executive Remuneration
Directors Committee Committee Committee

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul 4 - 5 -
Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan 4 - - -
Mr. Arve Johansen 3 - 5 -
Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul 4 - 5 -
Mr. Sigve Brekke 3 - 5 -
Mr. Per Olav Fosse 3 - 5 -
Mr. Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn 3 - - -
Mrs. Tasanee Manorot 4 - - -
M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai 3 11 - 1
Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu 4 12 - 1
Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 4 10 - 1
No. of Meetings Held 4 12 5 1
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Corporate Governance

Directors Age Date of Initial Appointment Last Appointed Date
1  Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul1 Chairman 50 29-Oct-90 27-Apr-01
2  Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan Vice Chairman and 58 27-Apr-93 27-Apr-01

Chief Technology Officer
3  Mr. Arve Johansen Vice Chairman 55 29-Sept-00 29-Sept-00
4  Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul2 Director and Co-CEO 43 24-Jul-91 27-Apr-01
5  Mr. Sigve Brekke Director and Co-CEO 45 29-Sept-00 29-Apr-03
6  Mr. Per Olav Fosse Director 49 21-Feb-03 29-Apr-03
7  Mr. Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn Director 57 22-Jun-01 29-Apr-03
8  Mrs.Tasanee Manorot Director 59 27-Feb-01 30-Apr-02
9  M.R.Tongnoi Tongyai Director 69 11-Dec-98 30-Apr-02
10  Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu Director 61 6-Mar-00 30-Apr-02
11  Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat Director 67 6-Mar-00 30-Apr-02

All Independent Directors are non-executive
and carry out the functions independently
of the Executive Directors and management
of the Company.  They are:
1. M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
2. Mr.  Chulchit Bunyaketu
3. Mr.  Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat

Chairman and Executive Officer

Principle 3: Clear division of responsibilities
at the top of the Company

The Chairman of the Board is responsible
for scheduling meetings and setting
meeting agendas, exercising control over
quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow
of information between the management
and the Board, and ensuring compliance
with the Company’s guidelines on corporate
governance.  The Chairman is also the
Chairman of Board meetings, and in the
case of a tied vote, the Chairman of the
meeting has an additional casting vote.
Each director has one vote, and a decision
at the meeting is made by a majority vote.
A Director who has any interest in any
matter is not entitled to vote on such matter.

Even though Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul, one
of the two Co-Chief Executive Officers, is a
brother of Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul,
the Chairman of the Board of Directors, they
have a clear division of responsibilities and
have appropriate balance of power and
authority.

Board Membership / Board Performance

Principle 4: Formal and transparent process
for appointment of new directors

Principle 5: Formal assessment of the
effectiveness of the Board and contribution
of each director

Appointments to, and withdrawal and
retirement from, the Board of Directors are
governed by the Company’s Articles of
Association that requires:
1.  The Board of Directors must have at least
5 members and at least half of the Directors
appointed must have permanent residence
in Thailand.
2.  Shareholders appoint the members of the
Board: a) Voting is in proportion to the number
of shares held; b) Votes can be for one or a
group of nominees but votes cannot be split
between a number of nominees; c) Nominees
with the highest number of votes are
appointed.  Where there is a tie, the chairman
of the meeting has the casting vote.

3.  A board member wishing to resign from
his position must submit a letter of
resignation to the company.  A resignation
takes effect when the Company receives it.
4.  Shareholders’ meeting may resolve to
remove any director before the expiration of
his/her term out of office by having votes of
not less than three-fourths of the number of
shareholders attending the meeting and
having the rights to vote with no less than
one-half of the shares held by all the
shareholders attending the meeting and
having the right to vote.

At every Annual General Meeting (AGM) one-
third of the Directors must retire determined
on the basis of the longest serving. A retiring
director is eligible for re-election.

Currently, a Nominating Committee for the
appointment of new directors and a formal
assessment of the Board’s performance have
not been set up due to the specific nature of
the Company’s nominating procedures.

Ever yone’s talking cor-
porate governance now.
But our approach is that if
you’re just checking boxes
for regulators and doing
disclosures once a year in
your annual report, you’re

not adding any value. So we’re taking a
practical approach. We’ve set up a
corporate governance committee, to look
at what we can do on a practical basis
to give people more comfort in areas like
approval of interested-party transactions
and policies when it comes to trading in

company securities. Can we provide
better, more timely information to equity
and debt markets? Can we improve on
the management of the company, the
work of the board of directors, the audit
committee, executive committee and
remuneration committee? The answer
is yes and will always be yes, and we
have made a start. There’s been a big
corporate cultural change here.    Even
in the area of corporate governance, we
are making a serious effort to walk the
walk and not just talk the talk.’’

Grant Ferguson, CFO

Remark:
1. Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul was CEO until 18 November 2002 and was succeeded by Mr.Vichai Bencharonkul and Mr. Sigve Brekke
    as Co-CEOs.
2. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul, a Director and Co-CEO, is the brother of Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul, Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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Access to Information

Principle 6: Board members have complete,
adequate and timely information

The management recognizes its obligation
to provide the Board with complete,
adequate information in a timely manner,
and the Board also has independent access
to the Company’s senior management.

As a general rule, information papers
including background and explanatory
information relating to matters are provided
to the Board members to provide a better
understanding of the matter to be discussed
at least 7 days prior the Board meeting.
The Board of Directors also has access to
the Company’s management for additional
insight and other relevant information on
any matter.

At present the Company does not have a
company secretary since it is not required
to appoint one under the Thai Public Limited
Companies Act B.E. 2535 of the Kingdom
of Thailand.  The duties and responsibilities,
which are typically performed by a company
secretary of a company in Singapore are
performed by appropriately qualified and
experienced staff in the Company’s Legal
Department.

Remuneration Matters / Level and Mix
of Remuneration / Disclosure of
Remuneration

Principle 7: Formal and transparent
procedure for fixing remuneration packages
for directors

Principle 8: Remuneration of directors
should be adequate but not excessive

Principle 9: Remuneration policy, level and
mix of remuneration and procedure for
setting remuneration

The Company has set up a Remuneration
Committee comprising all three following
independent directors with knowledge in the
field of executive compensation.

1.  Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu (As Chairman)
2.  M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
3.  Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat

This committee shall have the responsibility
to recommend to the Board a framework for
the executive directors’ remuneration and to
administer any share option scheme for key
executives.  The Committee also reviews the
remuneration package to ensure the
appropriateness to attract, retain and
motivate the directors and key executives
to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

Note:
1. Based on amounts received in 2003.
2. Remuneration in the form of meeting allowance paid to five directors.
3. No bonus in relation to 2002 performance was paid to Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul and Mr.

Sigve Brekke since they were appointed as Co-CEOs on November 13, 2002.  Their
contracts of employment includes fixed and variable components, and the variable
component is dependant on the Company and personal performance.

4. As of 31 December 2003, there was no other employee who is immediate family member
as defined in the Listing Manual of SGX-ST of a director or the CEO, and whose
remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the year.

Remuneration1 of Key Executives (who are not Directors)

Note: 1.  Based on amounts received in 2003.
2.  Remuneration for the key executives includes salaries, bonuses, and car
     allowances.

According to the Company’s Articles of
Association, the remuneration of Directors
is determined by the shareholders’ general
meeting.

As of 31 December 2003, the Company did
not have an employee share option schemes.

The remuneration of the Directors and key
executives in 2003 was:

Remuneration1 of Directors

Key Executives’ Remuneration by Band Base Salary Bonus Share options

Above SGD 1,000,000
Nil. - - -
Above SGD 750,000 to 1,000,000
Mr.Grant Ferguson 70% 30% -
Above SGD 500,000 to 750,000
Nil. - - -
Above SGD 250,000 to 500,000
Mr.Pitjapol Jantanasaro 87% 13% -
Mr.Sunti Medhavikul 80% 20% -
Below SGD 250,000
Mr.Rolf Marthinusen 89% 11% -
Mr.Petter Borre Furberg 90% 10% -
Mr.Thana Thienachariya 82% 18% -

Directors Remuneration by Band Meeting Base Bonus Share options
allowance2 Salary

Above SGD 500,000
Nil. - - - -
Above SGD 250,000 to 500,000
Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul - 100% - -
Mr. Sigve Brekke - 100% - -
Mr. Somlak Sachjapinan - 81% 19% -
Below SGD 250,000
Mr. Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn 100% - - -
Mrs. Tasanee Manorot 100% - - -
M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai 100% - - -
Mr. Chulchit Bunyaketu 100% - - -
Mr. Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 100% - - -
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Accountability

Principle 10: Accountability of the Board
and management

The Board of Directors recognizes the
importance of providing the shareholders
with a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s
performance, position, and prospects on
a timely basis; therefore, the Company
reports and makes public its financial
statements on a quarterly basis.

The management also provides the
Executive Committee, delegated by the
Board of Directors to assist on handling
impor tant issues of the Company’s
business operations, with balanced and
understandable management accounts on
the Company’s performance, position and
prospects on a monthly basis.

To assist the Directors, Board Committees
have been established with clear scope
of work and responsibilities.  Currently
there are three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and Executive Committee.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises 5
members.  The members are:

1. Mr. Arve Johansen (as Chairman)
2. Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
3. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
4. Mr. Sigve Brekke
5. Mr. Per Olav Fosse

The scope of work, responsibilities and
authority of the Executive Committee are
as follows:

1. To review, consider, decide on and, if
appropriate, approve and make
recommendations on the following matters
prior to the management of the Company
submitting them to the Board of Directors
of the Company for its consideration and
approval: a. the strategies and policies
proposed and/or adopted by/for the
Company; b. the business plans of the
Company; c. the annual budgets and other
finance matters of the Company; and

d. any other matters which the Board of
Directors has directed the Executive
Committee to consider,
2. To consider, review and follow up them
with management on the progress and
outcome of work in relation to
investments, including procurement and
disposal of any assets, in line with the
business plan, policy, strategy and annual
budget of the Company.

A number of committees have been
established by management as key
elements of the Company’s internal
control system.  These include an
Investment Committee and a Corporate
Governance Committee.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee, consisting of
Co-Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Technology Officer, Assistant
Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/Internal
Affairs, Assistant Chief Financial Officer and
Controller, and Deputy Chief Financial
Officer, reviews and, if appropriate, approves
all investment in the Company’s assets that
is equal or over than 2 million Baht.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee,
consisting of the Co-Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Assistant
Chief Executive Officer-Corporate/Internal
Affairs, and certain Department Directors
throughout the Company, has a mandate
to establish and promote good practice
of corporate governance.

Audit Committee / Internal Control /
Internal Audit

Principle 11: Establishment of audit
committee (“AC”) with written terms of
reference

Principle 12: Sound system of internal
controls

Principle 13: Setting up of independent
Internal Audit Function

The Audit Committee comprises the three
Independent Directors.

Two members of the Audit Committee,
M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai and Chulchit
Bunyaketu, possess accounting or related
financial management exper tise or
experience.  M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai, has
served as Chief Executive Officer to His
Royal Highness Crown Prince of Thailand
since 2001.  Chulchit Bunyaketu served
as Managing Director of Thai Power Oil
Company Limited during 1998-2003.

This Committee’s responsibilities include;

1. Financial Reporting and Auditing
a. Examine the Company’s financial

statement and accounts.
b. Make recommendations concerning

the appointment of the independent
auditor, and consult with the indepen-
dent auditor as necessary.

c. Present the Audit Committee’s Report,
signed by the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, as an integral part of the
Company’s Annual Report.

2. Monitoring, Supervision and Advice
a. Monitor the Company’s business to

ensure that it is in accordance with
the law and regulations of the SGX-ST
and any other relevant law.

b. Making available accurate information
about the Company’s finances in those
instances where inappropriate trans-
actions, conflicts of interest or other
anomalies occur.

c. Advising the Board of Directors on
matters that have an impact on the
Company’s financial status and its day
to day operations; involve conflicts of
interest and/or corruption; relate to
significant errors in the internal
control system; are considered likely
to be contrary to the law and regu-
lations of the SGX-ST or other laws
relevant to the Company’s business.

d. Directing and supervising the internal
audit division to ensure that it per-
forms independently and efficiently.
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The Audit Committee Report on page 47
reviews the major areas of the Commit-
tee’s work.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting 1/2004 held
on 19 Februar y 2004, at which all
Independent Directors and Members of
Audit Committee were in attendance,
assessed the sufficiency of the Company’s
internal controls in 5 areas:  organization
and environment control; risk management;
operational control; information; commu-
nication and monitoring. The Company’s
internal control systems are sufficient and
suitable for the Company’s business. The
external auditors also reported no significant
weaknesses in the internal control system;
which are likely to have a material impact
on the financial statement.

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 14: Regular, effective and fair
communication with shareholders

Principle 15: Shareholder participation at
AGMs

To ensure that the Company discloses
important information correctly, timely, and
transparently, it has established an Investor
Relations Depar tment to engage in
regular, effective and fair communication
with shareholders. The Company regularly
reviews its procedures for repor ting
information with a view to improving the
awareness and transparency of its
business strategies, goals, and results.

Timely disclosure of material information
is provided to shareholders in accordance
with the Corporate Disclosure Policy of
SGX-ST, and the shareholders are also kept
informed of the Company’s developments,
operational information, quarterly operating
results, and per formances through
announcements and Investor Releases
made public through SGX-ST’s MASNET as
well as the Company’s website and other
distribution channels.

In addition, one of the primary roles of the
Company’s Corporate Governance
Committee is to ensure appropriate policies
and practices are adopted for the disclosure
of information to all stakeholders.

The Company holds the its Annual
General Meeting within 4 months from
the end of each financial year.  The
notice of the meeting indicating the
place, date, time, agendas, and matters
to be proposed to the meeting with
appropriate detail including the annual
report is sent to the Shareholders not
less than 7 days prior to the meeting
date, and it is also published in a
newspaper for 3 consecutive days with
at least 3 days prior to the meeting date.
The Company’s articles association
allows a shareholder to appoint a proxy
to attend and vote on any matter at any
General Meeting.

At the AGM, the shareholders are given
the opportunity to provide their views
and to ask the Directors and Manage-
ment questions.

Best Practice Guide regarding
dealings in securities

In early 2004, the Company formalized
policy and practices for dealings in
securities of the Company that complies
with the Best Practice Guide on Dealings
in Securities issued by SGX-ST.  These
policies include:

•  The regular issuance of circulars
to officers not to deal in the Company’s
securities while they are in possession
of unpublished material price sensitive
information or trade at any time on short-
term considerations.

•  The prohibition of trading in the
Company’s securities by Directors and
Executives from 10 days prior to the end
of each quarterly accounting period and
ending on the date the financial results
of the same accounting period are made
public.

•  The Company’s Directors and
Executives are required to inform the
Company’s Investor Relations Department
about any change of that Directors’ or
Executives’ interest in the Company’s
securities within 24 hours from the date of
change of interest.

•  In case of Directors, Investor
Relations will file a notice to the SGX-ST
via MASNET.

No. of
Meetings
Attended

3.  Internal Control
Reviewing the Company’s internal
control and internal audit systems to
ensure that they are suitable and
effective

The Company’s internal audit function
and the external auditor report their
findings and recommendations to the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviews the
per formance, including the indepen-
dence, of the external auditor annually
in making its recommendation to the
Board on the appointment of the external
auditor.  To ensure that the audit system
is appropriate, the Audit Committee
meets with the external auditor without
the presence of the Company’s
management on an annual basis.  The
Audit Committee also has full access and
co-operation from the Management in
case that any issue or concern may arise.

The audit partner, Sumalee Reewara-
bandith, from Ernst and Young Office
Limited, who currently performs audit
services for the Company was first
appointed at the Annual General Meeting
No. 1/2003 held on 29 April 2003.
Accordingly, the appointment of Sumalee
Reewarabandith is in compliance with
Rule 713 (1) of the Listing Manual.

The amount of non-audit fees paid to the
auditor of the Company in the financial
year ended 31 December 2003 was
4,950,000 Baht.

In addition, the Audit Committee reviews
the non-auditing services provided by the
external audit annually to ensure that
such non-auditing services do not affect
the independence of the auditors. The
Audit Committee meets on a monthly
basis and its attendance during the year
2002 was:

Audit Committee

M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai 11

Mr.  Chulchit Bunyaketu 12

Mr.  Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat 10
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Interested Person Transactions

Rationale for the transactions:
• Prior to June 2002, UCOM was the primary distributor of the Company’s products as one of its core business is distributing

mobile phones and other related telecommunication products to third party telecom and non-telecom shops.
• UCOM also provides services in the area of purchases of network equipment.
• The operation andmaintenance of transmission network is a core business of UCOM who have managed and maintained

the Company’s network efficiently and effectively for many years. These services are in short supply in Thailand and
many of the possible alternative suppliers work for the Company’s competitors.

The Company and its subsidiaries enter into business transactions with each other and with associated and related companies as shown in  Note 6
to the Financial Statements.  Such transactions, which have been concluded on terms and conditions determined by the Company and those related
companies and which are in the normal course of business, are summarized below:-

Rationale for the transactions:
• In June 2002, the Company and UCOM transferred their sales and distribution businesses to UD, which is a subsidiary

of UCOM.  UD also has the exclusive right to distribute and sell the Company’s telecommunication products. The
business relationship is beneficial as it allows the Company to expand its product and services reach while controlling
the cost of distribution.

• The Company purchases handsets and related accessories through a subsidiary, WPS, from UD for resale at its own
DTAC shops and service halls.

Rationale for the transactions:
• UTEL is a subsidiary of UCOM that provides fully integrated services in the areas of system design, project implementation,

distribution, leasing of telecommunications equipment, consulting services and system maintenance of
telecommunications, information technology, broadcasting and network equipment.  Such services are provided on a
project-by-project basis and are subject to tender processes along with other unrelated third party service providers.

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Sales of goods
2.1 Sales of mobile handsets, SIM cards, SIM card package,

refill vouchers and Starter Kits to UD. 6,316 13,858
Sales of services
2.2 Rebates from supplier reimbursed by UD 29 -
Purchase of goods
2.3 Purchase of mobile handsets from UD 407 259

Aggregate value of  transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Sales of goods

1.1 Sales of SIM cards, SIM card package, refill vouchers and
Starter Kits to UCOM 716 -

1.2 Sales of NOKIA mobile handsets to UCOM 1,780 -
Purchase of goods
1.3 Purchase of mobile handsets and material supply for the

installation of base stations from UCOM 141 -
Purchase of services
1.4 Hire to UCOM for the operation and maintenance of the

transmission network 762 610

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
3.1 Hire to UTEL for installation and maintenance services

of base stations and cell site equipment 534 1,368

1. Transactions with UCOM

2. Transactions with UD

3. Transactions with UTEL
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Rationale for the transactions:
• INN is a local radio station and publisher of the Ruam Duaey Chuay Kan newspaper.

Rationale for the transactions:
• TELENOR provides the Company with seconded staff with appropriate experience in relevant business areas.

Rationale for the transactions:
• UIH, which is a subsidiary of UCOM, provides high-speed data communications service via a nationwide leased optical

fiber network to public and private organizations.  UIH has one of the most extensive and high quality fiber optic
networks in Thailand and has been providing consistent and high quality data communication services to the Company
for many years.

Rationale for the transactions:
• UBT provides high-speed internet connection service via DSL Technology through Internet Service Providers (ISPs).

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
8.1 Fees to TELENOR under a service agreement. 100 157

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
4.1 Rent to UIH for high-speed leased circuit for its
      data communication 0.7 16.4

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
5.1 Insurance premiums to NARAI 42 67.7

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
6.1 Service fees to UBT for ADSL 0.3 0.2

Aggregate value of transactions
Principal Transactions during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Purchase of services
7.1 Service fees to INN for news services and advertising 14 -

Rationale for the transactions:
• NARAI is a well-known insurer in Thailand. Premiums are at market rate.

4. Transactions with UIH

5. Transactions with NARAI

6. Transactions with UBT

7. Transactions with INN

8. Transactions with TELENOR
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Balance outstanding of IPTs:

Transactions Aggregate value of transactions Rationale for the transactions
during the financial year

(Million Baht)
2002 2003

Advances
1.Advances to UD - 4.3 The balance arose from the purchase of Happy Dprompt premium.

2.Advances to other related 1.4 6.2 The balance arose from minor payments made on behalf of related
   companies companies shall be reimbursed.

3.Advances from UD 20 - The balance arose from the volume discount provided to dealers that
was reimbursed by the Company.

4.Advances from TELENOR 196 117 Amounts outstanding under the service agreement (see 8.1).

5.Advances from other related 42 13 The balance arose from minor payments made on the Company’s behalf
   companies by related companies to be reimbursed respect of the distribution

agreement (see 2.1).

Accounts receivable-Trade
1. Amounts due from UD 1,614 2,611 The amounts due arose in normal course of business.

2. Amounts due from UCS 6 - The balance arose from the purchase of handsets and accessories.  UCS
terminated its operations in 2002, and the Company provided in full an
allowance for doubtful accounts in the first quarter of 2003.

3.Others 0.27 0.026 The balance arose from miscellaneous sales to related companies.

Accounts payable-Trade
1.Amounts due to UCOM 185 94 The balance arose from the hire for operation and maintenance of the

transmission network (see 1.4).

2.Amounts due to UTEL 40 158 The balance arose from the hire of installation and maintenance services
(see 3.1).

3.Amounts due to UIH - 7 The balance arose from the rent for high-speed leased circuits (see 4.1).

4.Amounts due to UD by WPS 31 - The balance arose from the purchase of handsets and accessories by
WPS (see 2.3).

Amount due from related 5.36 0.7 The balance arose from miscellaneous sales to related companies.
  companies

Notes:
TAC-Total Access Communication Public Company Limited
The Company
UCOM-United Communication Industry Public Company Limited
UCOM is a controlling shareholder of TAC with 41.64%
  shareholding.
UD-United Distribution Business Company Limited
UD is a subsidiary of UCOM with 75% shareholding and an
  associate of the Company with 25% shareholding.
UTEL-United Telecom Sales and Services Company Limited
UTEL is a subsidiary of UCOM with 99.99% shareholding.

Other than the related party transactions set out above, there was no material contract involving the interests of any of the Co-Chief
Executive Officers, Directors or controlling shareholders, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ending 31 December
2003 or if not subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous year ending 31 December 2002.

Further information relating to interested persons transaction pursuant to Rule 907 of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual is as follows:-

The Company will be seeking share-holders’ approval for a general mandate for interested person transactions, which are recurrent
transactions of a revenue or trading nature or are necessary for the Company’s day-to-day operations, such as the purchase and sale
of supplies and materials, that may be carried out with the Interested Persons.

UCOM and its subsidiaries
Telenor

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions during the financial year under

review (excluding transactions less than
S$100,000 and transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

(THB’000,000)
16,095

157

Aggregate value of all interested person
transactions conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding

transaction less than S$100,000)

(THB’000,000)
-
-

Name of interested person

UIH-United Information Highway Company Limited
UIH is a subsidiary of UCOM with 75% shareholding.
UBT-United Broadband Technology Company Limited
UBT is a subsidiary of UCOM with 51% shareholding.
UCS-United Communication Subscriber Company Limited
UCS is a subsidiary of UCOM with 99.99% shareholding.
INN-I.N.N. Company Limited
61.54% of INN’s issued shares held by a Director of TAC
(Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul)

NARAI-Narai International Insurance Company Limited
6.5% of NARAI’s issued shares held by two Directors of TAC
(Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul and Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul)
WPS-WorldPhone Shop Company Limited
WPS is a subsidiary of the Company.
TELENOR-Telenor Asia Pte. Limited
TELENOR is a controlling shareholder of TAC with 29.94%
shareholding.
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But what I really want to know is
Are you gonna go my way ?

Lenny Kravitz
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My way …   to focus on the bottom line

Financial Highlights

(Unit : Thousand Baht)

2003 2002 2001
(Restated)

INCOME STATEMENTS
REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES

Revenue from telephone service 30,279,055 25,156,760 22,028,477
Revenue from sales of telephone sets
  and starter kits 879,778 5,841,622 7,280,091
Revenue from sales of retail goods 130,518 576,503 439,859
Other operating income 491,262 425,986 351,106
Total revenues from sales and services 31,780,612 32,000,871 30,099,532

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES
Cost of telephne sevices 18,307,544 13,560,130 11,066,597
Cost of sales of telephone sets 426,912 5,260,993 6,748,216
Cost of sales of retail goods 128,751 518,276 336,564
Total cost of sales and services 18,863,208 19,339,399 18,151,377

GROSS PROFIT 12,917,404 12,661,472 11,948,155
Selling and administrative expenses (6,804,392) (7,351,406) (6,786,195)
OPERATING PROFIT 6,113,012 5,310,067 5,161,960
Interest income 22,703 407,788 485,187
Other income 228,750 225,108 85,535
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 144,901 (32,901) 345,051
NET OPERATING PROFIT 6,509,366 5,910,063 6,077,732
Share of loss from investment in associated company 41,588 19,070 -
Earnings (Loss) before financail cost and income tax 6,550,953 5,929,133 6,077,732
Financial cost (2,806,302) (2,870,773) (3,122,431)
Corporate income tax (1,158,126) (976,301) (1,133,589)
Net earnings (loss) for the period 2,586,525 2,082,060 1,821,712
Earnings per share (Baht) 5.45 4.39 3.84

BALANCE SHEET
Total assets 83,636,981 84,053,443 82,321,524
Total long term borrowing 44,222,267 43,897,761 40,844,035
Total liabilities 54,355,971 57,350,831 57,709,100
Total sharerholders’ equity 29,281,010 26,702,613 24,612,425
Weighted average number of shares (Share) 474,416,126 474,416,126 474,416,126

FINANCIAL RATIO
EBITDA 12,142,952 10,496,294 9,150,369
EBITDA margin 38% 33% 30%
Net Debt to Equtiy 1.47 1.63 1.61
Debt to EBITDA 3.55 4.14 4.33
Interest Coverage 5.13 4.33 3.95
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Prepaid ARPU in 2003 grew by 12% from
2002 as a result of higher airtime usage
and a decline in the amor tization of
promotional airtime which was recognized
against gross air time revenue in the
income statement.  Total promotional
air time amor tized against revenue
declined to THB 775 million in 2003 from
THB 2,343 million in 2002.

An 11% improvement in postpaid ARPU in
2003 was primarily the result of higher
airtime usage from a relatively stable
customer base.  Average MOU per
customer per month, excluding VAS in
2003 increased by 23% in 2003 to 417
minutes from 338 minutes in 2002.

Total cost of sales and services for 2003
amounted to THB 18,863 million, a YoY
decrease of 2.5%. Of this, the cost of
providing telephone services accounted
for THB 18,307 million, a 35% increase
from 2002. This was primarily due to a
combination of the following:

1. Revenue share payable to the CAT
Telecom Public Company Limited  under
the Concession, excise tax paid to the
Ministry of Finance of Thailand and the
fixed line access charge payable to TOT
Corporation Public Company Limited
increased by 25%, as a result of an
increase air time revenues and the
propor tion of revenues coming from
prepaid services;

2. Amortization of deferred right increased
by 21% due to  increased capacity in, and
the expansion of, the cellular network in
late 2002 and 2003;

3. Production cost of, and sales margin
paid to United Distribution Business
Company Limited (“UD”), in respect of,
prepaid refill vouchers increased by 109%,
primarily as a result of higher usage by an
increased number of prepaid customers;

4. International call charges paid to CAT
for inbound roaming customers and
roaming charges paid to partners for
outbound roaming customers increased by
50% due to a significant increase in the
number of roaming customers; and,

5. Other cost of services increased by 92%
primarily due to higher network
maintenance cost.

Cost of telephone sets and starter kits
of THB 427 million was a 92% decrease
from 2002, largely as a result of the
discontinuance of the Company’s direct
involvement in handset sales and
distribution in May 2002.

Selling and administrative expenses
amounted to THB 6,804 million, a 7%
decrease YoY, primarily due to the net
effect of;

1. Provision for doubtful accounts
decreased by 43% and accounted for 7%
of postpaid revenues (10% in 2002);

2.  Selling and marketing expenses
increased by 12% YoY and accounted for
5.5% of total revenues, (5% in 2002)
primarily due to the launch of two
products, “my” and “Happy” in the first
half of 2003;

3. Amortization of information systems
and depreciation of non-network
equipment and buildings increased by
9%; and

4. Other general administrative
expenses, including a one-time cost to
settle a contractual claim in the amount
of THB 128 million decreased by 4%.

EBITDA for 2003 was THB 12,143
million, a 16% YoY increase.  EBITDA
margin increased from 33% to 38%.

Financial costs decreased from THB
2,871 million to THB 2,806 million due
to lower average cost of debt, offset by
a one-time bank loan prepayment
expenses and related swap unwiding
cost of THB 317 million in the third
quarter of 2003.

2003 net earnings of THB 2,587
increased by 24% from 2002,
representing an earnings per share of
THB 5.45 (THB 4.39 in 2002).

Excluding non recurring costs for the
settlement of a dispute and loan
prepayment and swap unwinding costs,
the net earnings would have been THB
3,032 million, an increase of 46% YoY.

Analysis of Consolidated Operating
Results for the year ended 31
December 2003

Service revenues for the year ended 31
December 2003 amounted to THB 30,279
million, a 20% increase from 2002, driven
by a significant increase in the airtime
usage by both existing and newly acquired
prepaid and postpaid customers.

Total revenues amounted to THB 31,781
million, decreasing by only 1% from 2002
despite a decrease in revenue from the
sale and distribution of handsets and retail
goods, as a result of the Company
withdrawing from direct involvement in
this business area in mid 2002.

Subscriptions 2003 2002
Postpaid 1,167,543 1,250,226
Prepaid 5,382,953 4,204,336
Total 6,550,496 5,454,562

Revenues from Value Added Services
(“VAS”) increased by 81% year on year
(“YoY”) and accounted for 4% of service
revenues. Revenues from international
roaming increased by 53% YoY and
accounted for 6% of service revenues (5%
in 2002) due to an increase in visitor
arrivals and a higher proportion of visitors
using the DTAC network.

Revenues from the sale of handsets and
star ter kits were THB 880 million,
decreasing by 85% due to the
discontinuance of the handset sales and
distribution business in May 2002.

Revenues from the sale of retail goods in
the amount of THB 131 million was 77%
lower as a result of the cessation of
operations of am/pm Mini Market and Rak
Ban Kerd stores in the second quarter of
2003.

ARPU 2003 2002 +/-
Postpaid  1,176 1,057 11%
Prepaid 234 209 12%
Blended 410 502 -18%

Blended average revenue per user
(“ARPU”) in 2003 was THB 410,
compared to THB 502 in 2002. This
decrease was primarily a result of net
additions added to the customer base
being predominantly prepaid.

Results and Financing
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Analysis of Consolidated Balance
Sheet as at 31 December 2003

Assets

At 31 December 2003 total assets
amounted to THB 83.64 billion, 0.5%
lower than at year end 2002 largely due
to an 8% decrease in current assets.
Current assets as at 31 December 2003
were THB 6.7 billion and accounted for
8% of total assets (2002: 10%).  This
reduction was primarily due to the
combined effect of:

1) Cash and cash equivalents increased
by 11% to THB 1,665 million.

2) Accounts receivable-trade decreased
by 20% largely due to the decrease in
ser vice revenues from postpaid
subscribers many of who elected to
become prepaid customers in the early
part of 2003.

3) Accounts receivable from UD rose by
62% from the previous year end as a
result of an increase in sales of starter
kits and refill vouchers to UD.

4) Accounts receivable from related
companies reduced by 100% due to the
decrease in sales of handsets and
accessories to related companies as the
Company transferred this business area
to UD in May 2002.

5) Inventory of THB 52 million was 81%
lower than at 31 December 2002 as a
result of the sales and distribution of
handsets business being transferred to
UD.

6) The company did not recognize a
current portion of the receivable from
assignment of right at end 2003 as the
company has not received the amount
due to be paid by DPC in 2002 and 2003.
The failure of DPC to pay is currently in
arbitration proceedings

Liabilities

At 31 December 2003 total liabilities
were THB 54.35 billion, a reduction of
5% from 2002 mainly due to a significant
decrease in amounts due to trade
suppliers and debt repayment.  Amounts
due to suppliers (accounts payable-
trade) at 31 December 2003 were 59%
lower than the previous year as a result

of a decrease in purchase of cell site
equipments for the cellular network. To
comply with the Telecom-munication
Ser vices Act 2001 which prohibits
operators from collecting deposits for
service, the Company has refunded to the
customers in many forms including a credit
for service fees and an exchange for
reward points resulted in a significant
decrease in customers’ deposits from THB
655 million at end 2002 to THB 31 million
at end 2003.

Of total liabilities, THB 44.22 billion (or
81% of total liabilities) was long-term
loans and bonds, including the portion that
will come due within the next 12 months.
A 0.7% increase in long-term debt was
from the drawn down of a USD 30 million
loan from the Nordic Investment Bank, the
issuance of THB 1,590 million bills of
exchange and THB 9 billion bonds, offset
by loan repayments and prepayments of
THB 8.8 billion.

The Company continues to use proactive
liability management operations to
manage the cost, duration and risk of the
debt portfolio.  As at 31 December 2003,
all foreign currency denominated long-
term debt and the cost of servicing it had
been fully hedged to mitigate the risk of
fluctuations in the underlying currency
exchange rates.  In September 2003 as
part of the cost optimization and tenor
management plans, the Company
refinanced existing long-term debt by
issuing bonds totaling THB 9 billion.  These
bonds comprised THB 5.5 billion debenture
with mix of fixed and floating coupon rates
of 3.30% and 6M THBFIX + 0.95% with a
5 year bullet repayment and the THB 3.5
billion debenture with a 3.90% fixed
coupon and 7 year bullet repayment.

Capital Structure

Shareholders’ equity at the end of 2003
increased to THB 29.3 billion from THB
26.7 billion or approximately 10% mainly
from net income for the year.

The Company’s capital structure
comprised:

1. Shareholders’ equity of THB 29.3 billion
representing 35% of the total assets; and

2. Total liabilities of THB 54.36 billion
representing 65% of the total assets.

Liquidity

In 2003 the Company is net cash flows
increased by THB 169 million, compared
to a net decrease of THB 1.6 billion in
2002 due to the following:

1. Net cash flow from operating
activities amounted to THB 9.6 billion,
a decrease of 11% compared to 2002
primarily due a decrease in working
capital largely from the discontinuance
of the handset business.

2. Net cash payment for investing
activities of THB 9.27 billion decreased
from THB 14.48 billion last year largely
as a result of lower capital expenditure
on network equipment.

3. Net cash payment for financing
activities was THB 177 million from the
combined result of new THB 6.2 billion
long-term loans and proceeds from the
issuance of a THB 9 billion bond, offset
by debt repayment of THB 8.8 billion in
2003

Therefore, cash and cash equivalents at
end 2003 increased from THB 1.5 billion
to THB 1.7 billion.

Financial Ratios: 2003 2002
Current ratio 0.51 0.49

Debt / Equity 1.47 1.63

Debt / EBITDA 3.55 4.14

Interest coverage 5.13 4.33

As at 31 December 2003, important
financial ratios were as follows:

•  Current ratio increased to 0.51
time from 0.49 time in 2002 largely due
to an increase in accounts receivable
from UD, an associated company for the
sales of starter kits and refill vouchers,
the reduction in amounts payable to
suppliers, and a decrease in short-term
loans from financial institutions.

•  A decrease in debt to equity and
debt to EBITDA ratios was from the
improvement in the Company’s net
profits and EBITDA.

•  Interest cover ratio increased
from 4.33 times in 2002 to 5.13 time in
2003.
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My way … to keep a tight rein

Directors2 Direct Interest Indirect Interest1

(As at 21 Jan 04) (As at 21 Jan 04)

No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul3 2 - 197,538,593 41.64

Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul4 1 - 197,538,593 41.64

Mr. Sigve Brekke 42,000 0.0089 - -

1.  Directors of the Company
a. The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

In accordance with the Article of Association, Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul, Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul, Mr.Somlak Sachjapinun,
and Mrs.Tassanee Manorot will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

b. The direct and indirect interests of the Directors and the substantial shareholders (as defined in the Companies Act, Chapter
50 of Singapore (the “Singapore Companies Act”) of the Company in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) at the par value of THB 10
each in the capital of the Company are shown in the following table:

1. Unlike Singapore incorporated companies
which are listed on the SGX-ST, the Company
does not maintain a Register of Substantial
Shareholders or a Register of Directors’
Shareholdings. The shareholders of the
Company are not required under the Singapore
Companies Act to provide the Company with
notices of substantial shareholding or of
changes in substantial shareholding. Similarly,
the Directors are not required to provide the
Company with notices of changes in their
respective indirect interests in the Shares.
Accordingly, the information relating to indirect
interests of the relevant shareholders and
Directors is based on knowledge of the
Company except where the relevant indirect
interest relates to Shares owned through a

direct securities account which the relevant
shareholder or Director has opened with CDP
in which case the information will be based on
the number of Shares standing to the credit of
his securities account with CDP.

2.  Other than Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul, Mr.
Vichai Bencharongkul, and Mr.Sigve Brekke,
none of the other Directors have any interest,
whether direct or indirect in any shares.

3. Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul and his
associates (as defined in the Singapore
Companies Act) are entitled to exercise 20 per
cent or more of the votes attached to the voting
shares in UCOM. Accordingly, Mr. Boonchai
Bencharongkul is deemed to have an indirect

The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited accounts of the company and its subsidiaries for
the financial year ended 31 December 2003

interest in the 197,538,593 Shares in which
UCOM has an interest, whether direct or
indirect.

4. Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul and his associates
(as defined in the Singapore Companies Act)
are entitled to exercise 20 per cent. or more of
the votes attached to the voting shares in
UCOM. Accordingly, Mr. Vichai Bencharongkul
is deemed to have an indirect interest in the
197,538,593 Shares in which UCOM has an
interest, whether direct or indirect.

5. For fur ther detail on the substantial
shareholders, please see page 30.

1.  Mr.Boonchai Bencharongkul Chairman of the Board of Directors

2.  Mr.Somlak Sachjapinan Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

3.  Mr.Arve Johansen Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

4.  Mr.Vichai Bencharongkul Director and Co-CEO

5.  Mr.Sigve Brekke Director and Co-CEO

6.  Mr.Per Olav Fosse Director

7.  Mr.Pakkaporn Sathienpakiranakorn Director

8.  Mrs.Tasanee Manorot Director

9.  M.R.Tongnoi Tongyai Director

10. Mr.Chulchit Bunyaketu Director

11. Mr.Soonthorn Pokachaiyapat Director

Director’s Report
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6. Material Movement in Reserves and
provisions

There was no material movement in
reser ves and provisions during the
financial year except as disclosed in the
notes to the accounts.

7. Issue of Debentures

During the financial year, the Company
issued THB 9 billion debentures to prepay
international and domestic bank loans.
The details of the issued debentures are
as follows:
• Tranche I: 5-Year tenor with mix of
fixed and floating rates of 3.30% and 6M
THBFIX + 0.95%; and
• Tranche II: 7 year tenor with fixed
coupon at 3.90%

8. Related Party Transactions

The Company and its subsidiaries enter
into business transactions with each other
and with associated and related
companies as shown in the Note 6 to the
Financial Statements.  Such transactions
have been concluded on terms and
conditions determined by the Company
and those related companies and are in
the normal course of business.  The
Company will be seeking shareholders’
approval for a general mandate for
interested person transactions, which are
recurrent transactions of a revenue or
trading nature or are necessary for the
Company’s day-to-day operations, such as
the purchase and sale of supplies and
materials, that may be carried out with
the Interested Persons.

9. Other Statutory Information

a. Before the accounts of the Company
were finalized, the Directors took
reasonable steps to ascertain that proper
action had been taken in relation to the
writing off for bad debts and the making
of provision for doubtful amounts
receivable and satisfied themselves that
all known bad debts had been written off
and that adequate provision had been
made for doubtful accounts receivable.

At the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any circumstances
which would render (i) the amount
written off for bad debts or the amount
of the provision for doubtful accounts
receivable inadequate to any substantial
extent; and (ii) the values attributed to
current assets misleading.

b.  At the date of this repor t, the
Directors are not aware of any
circumstances not otherwise dealt with
in the report of accounts, which would
render any amount stated in the
accounts of the Company, and the
consolidated accounts misleading.

c.  As at the date of this report, (i) there
are no charges in the assets of the
Company which have arisen since the
end of the financial year to secure the
liabilities of any other person, and (ii)
there are no material contingent
liabilities which have arisen since the
end of the financial year.

d. In the opinion of the Directors, no
item, transaction or event of a material
and unusual nature has arisen in the
interval between the financial year and
the date of this report which is likely to
affect substantially the results of the
operation of the Company and of the
Group for the financial year in which this
report is made.

10.  Statutory Auditors:

Ernst & Young, Cer tified Public
Accountants, our auditor, have
expressed their willingness to accept re-
appointment as statutory auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Boonchai Bencharongkul
Chairman of the Board of Directors

10 March 2004

2. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors comprises three independent
Directors.  Members of the Committee
are:
1. M.R. Tongnoi   Tongyai
2. Mr. Chulchit   Bunyaketu
3. Mr. Soonthorn   Pokachaiyapat

The Committee recommended to the
Board of Directors the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company at the for thcoming annual
meeting of shareholders.

3. Principal Activity
The principal activity of the Company is
to provide wireless telecommunication
services in Thailand under a concession
granted by CAT Telecom Public Company
Limited.

There has been no significant change in
the nature of this principle activity during
the financial year.

In the second quar ter of 2003,
WorldPhone Shop Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, ceased its
operations namely, the operation of am/
pm Mini Market and Rak Ban Kerd
stores.

4.  Results of the Financial Year  (in
thousands of Thai Baht)

2003  2002

Profit for the

  financial year

  (after taxation

  and minority

  interests)      2,586,525 2,082,060

In the opinion of the directors, the results
of the operations of the Company during
the financial year have not been affected
by any item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual nature.

5. Dividend

The Directors do not propose the
payment of a dividend (2002, Nil).
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Results and Financing

To Shareholders of
Total Access Communication Public Company Limited

In 2003, the Audit Committee of Total Access Communication Public Company Limited comprised three
independent directors, M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai as chairman, Mr. Chulchit Boonyaketu and Mr. Soonthorn
Pokachaiyapat as com-mittee members. The Audit Committee fulfilled all its responsibilities in accor-
dance with the Audit Committee Charter. The Audit Committee conducted a total of twelve meetings,
which can be summarized as follows:

1. Reviewed quarterly and annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries before
submitting to the Board of Directors for approval. Those financial statements were presented in accordance
with generally accepted and adequately disclosed standards.

2. Conducted meetings with the Management and internal auditors, and made recommendations for the
benefits of the Company’s operations.

3. Reviewed the appraisal of adequacy of internal control system.

4. Approved the audit plan and considered the audit reports of the Internal Audit Department, Operational
Audit Division and Information Technology Audit Division, in 2003 and concluded that the Company had
an effective internal control system and no significant weakness area.

5. Proposed to the Board of Directors to appoint Ernst & Young Office Limited as the Certified Public
Accountant of the Company and define the audit fees for the year 2003.

6. Defined the Corporate Authorization Index guideline including the control system procedure guidelines
in accordance with the terms of good corporate governance.

In our opinion, the Company presents the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, appropriately disclose information. The Company’s operation performance presents
good corporate governance and appropriate internal control systems and internal audit system without
material deficiency.

Audit Committee Report
My way …   to be accountable

M.R. Tongnoi Tongyai
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Total Access Communication Public Company Limited
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I planned each charted course;
Each careful step along the byway,
But more, much more than this,
I did it my way.

Frank Sinatra
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Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Auditor

I have audited the accompanying con-

solidated balance sheet of Total

Access Communication Public Company

Limited and subsidiaries as at 31

December 2003 and the related consoli-

dated statements of earnings, changes in

shareholders’ equity and cash flows for

the year then ended, and the separate

financial statements of Total Access

Communication Public Company Limited

for the same period.  These financial

statements are the responsibility of the

management of the Company and sub-

sidiaries as to their correctness and the

completeness of the presentation. My

responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on my

audit. The consolidated financial

statements of Total Access Commu-

nication Public Company Limited and

subsidiaries and the separate financial

statements of Total Access Commu-

nication Public Company Limited as at 31

December 2002 and for the year then

ended, as presented herein for com-

parative purposes, were audited by

another auditor of my of fice, who

expressed an unqualified opinion on those

financial statements under her report

dated 7 February 2003.

I conducted my audit in accordance with

generally accepted auditing standards.

Those standards require that I plan

and per form the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates

made by management, as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation.  I believe that my audit

provides a reasonable basis for my

opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements

referred to above present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position

of Total Access Communication Public

Company Limited and subsidiaries, and of

Total Access Communication Public

Company Limited as at 31 December 2003

and the result of their operations and

cash flows for the year then ended, in

accordance  with generally accepted

accounting principles.

Sumalee Reewarabandith
Certified Public Accountant
(Thailand) No. 3970

Without qualifying my opinion on the

aforementioned financial statements,

I draw attention to the following matters :-

As at the balance sheet date, the

Company has the outstanding litigation as

discussed in Note 28.1 (b) and 28.1 (c)

to the financial statements and the

commercial dispute between the Company

and CAT Telecom Public Company Limited

as discussed in Note 28.2 (b) to the

financial statements.

These financial statements have been

prepared under accounting principles

generally accepted in Thailand.  Note 37

to the financial statements describing

significant differences between accounting

principles generally accepted in Thailand

and International Accounting Standards is

not a required part of the basic financial

statements under accounting principles

generally accepted in Thailand but it is

presented for the purpose of giving

preliminary information only. I have applied

cer tain limited procedures which

consisted principally of enquiries of

management regarding the methods of

measurement and presentation of such

information. However, I did not audit such

information and do not express any audit

opinion on it.

Ernst & Young Office Limited
Bangkok  :  4 February 2004

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Total Access Communication Public Company Limited
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      (Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2003 2002 2003  2002

                ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 25 1,665,707,628 1,496,726,015 1,617,588,390 1,410,938,684

Accounts receivable - trade, net 5 1,913,992,338 2,380,717,731 1,913,960,550 2,365,254,405

Accounts receivable - trade : related parties

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiary 6  -  - 199,503,476 203,425,971

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company 6 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies 6 26,000 6,182,265 26,000 6,182,265

Advances to related parties

Advances to subsidiaries 6  - - 78,675,363 97,597,221

Advances to associated company 6 4,319,315  - 4,319,315  -

Advances to related companies 6 6,179,853 1,419,106 6,179,853 -

Inventories - net 7 52,529,841 276,596,997 51,974,904 253,633,011

Other current assets

Current portion of account receivable from

  assignment of right 11 - 1,321,805,786 - 1,321,805,786

Others 8 487,523,767 1,255,775,945 463,337,533 1,216,556,196

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,741,842,591 8,353,562,162 6,947,129,233     8,489,731,856

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deposits at financial institutions 27.4 4,508,904 36,905,361 - -

Investments in subsidiaries accounted

  for under equity method 9 - - 24,431,460 103,274,917

Investment in associated company accounted

  for under equity method 9 110,658,039 69,070,384 110,658,039 69,070,384

Other long-term investments 10 234,856,971 216,757,198 229,617,099 215,449,263

Long-term loans to and amounts due from

  related parties

Long-term loan to a subsidiary 6 - - 1,004,661,639 1,272,469,609

Amounts due from a subsidiary 6 - - 1,501,094,041 1,560,743,138

Amounts due from related companies 6 711,863 5,363,286 - 256,687

Account receivable from assignment of

  right - net of current portion 11 4,063,394,385 2,741,588,599 4,063,394,385 2,741,588,599

Property, plant and equipment - net 12 5,662,619,651 5,772,212,711 4,132,810,335 4,117,770,586

Deferred right to use of equipment - net 13 63,522,872,699 63,109,747,784      62,963,451,771  62,512,324,135

Equipment under installation 337,675,218 182,285,332 337,675,218 182,285,332

Deferred tax assets - 228,188,552 - 228,188,552

Other non-current assets

Goodwill - net 2.2.2 234,497,488 258,655,428 234,497,488 258,655,428

Deposits and prepayment for purchase and

  installation of equipment 416,244,819 546,027,319 416,244,819 546,027,319

Others 14 2,307,098,364 2,533,079,607 2,889,308,781 3,325,971,468

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 76,895,138,401 75,699,881,561     77,907,845,075   77,134,075,417

TOTAL ASSETS 83,636,980,992 84,053,443,723     84,854,974,308   85,623,807,273

TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Balance Sheets

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

    LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Short-term loans from financial institutions 15 500,000,000 1,001,698,630 500,000,000 1,001,698,630

Accounts payable - trade 16 2,470,653,963 6,078,814,624 2,466,986,243 6,045,445,072

Accounts payable - trade : related parties

Accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries 6 - - 5,208,362 15,158,063

Accounts payable - trade : associated company 6 - 31,512,485 - -

Accounts payable - trade : related companies 6 259,184,557 225,787,319 259,184,557 225,787,319

Advances from related parties

Advances from associated company 6 - 20,063,387 - 20,063,387

Advances from related companies 6 130,340,687 237,508,250 127,423,823 234,127,493

Current portion of long-term loan from a subsidiary 6 - - 429,925,332 440,936,824

Current portion of long-term loans 17 - 876,502,493 - 876,502,493

Current portion of bonds 18 5,875,131,786 6,000,120,000 5,875,131,786 6,000,120,000

Other current liabilities

Corporate income tax payable 198,026,751 387,146,321 198,026,751 384,798,015

Excise tax payable 355,189,410 - 355,189,410 -

Interest payable 403,713,116 467,363,056 246,898,791 296,460,300

Accrued expenses 784,807,919 457,783,822 772,845,513 435,687,972

Accounts payable - others 724,618,129 422,593,118 720,093,385 411,254,959

Unearned revenue from

  telephone service - prepaid system 1,360,142,481 589,297,644 1,360,142,481 589,297,644

Others 180,512,451 177,235,238 172,197,207 172,718,659

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 13,242,321,250 16,973,426,387 13,489,253,641 17,150,056,830

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term loan from a subsidiary - net of

  current portion 6 - - 13,381,364,003 13,895,139,611

Long-term loans - net of current portion 17 2,860,500,000 4,534,383,116 2,860,500,000 4,534,383,116

Bonds - net of current portion 18 35,448,700,000 32,448,820,000 22,142,600,000 19,142,720,000

Convertible bonds 19 37,935,000 37,935,000 37,935,000 37,935,000

Customers’ deposits 20 31,453,563 655,083,442 31,453,563 655,083,442

Advance received - other 11 2,515,582,638 2,515,582,638 2,515,582,638 2,515,582,638

Deferred tax liabilities 24 21,365,186 - 21,365,186 -

Other non-current liabilities 198,113,300 185,600,562 83,810,504 71,297,766

Provision for loss on investments in subsidiaries 9 - - 1,010,099,718 918,996,292

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 41,113,649,687 40,377,404,758 42,084,710,612 41,771,137,865

TOTAL LIABILITIES 54,355,970,937 57,350,831,145 55,573,964,253 58,921,194,695

TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
  Balance Sheets

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Balance Sheets

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital

Registered

535,001,026 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each 5,350,010,260 5,350,010,260 5,350,010,260 5,350,010,260

Issued and fully paid

474,416,126 ordinary shares of Baht 10 each 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260 4,744,161,260

Premium on ordinary shares 20,808,142,634 20,808,142,634 20,808,142,634 20,808,142,634

Shares of the Company held by a subsidiary 21 (25,400,450) (25,400,450) (25,400,450) (25,400,450)

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale securities 10 - 8,128,000 - 8,128,000

Retained earnings

Appropriated - statutory reserve 22 535,001,026 426,907,671 535,001,026 426,907,671

Unappropriated 3,219,105,585 740,673,463 3,219,105,585 740,673,463

        3,754,106,611 1,167,581,134 3,754,106,611 1,167,581,134

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 29,281,010,055 26,702,612,578 29,281,010,055 26,702,612,578

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 83,636,980,992 84,053,443,723 84,854,974,308 85,623,807,273

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
   Earnings Statements

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002

REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES

Revenue from telephone services 30,279,055,229 25,156,760,326 30,279,055,229 25,156,760,326

Revenue from sales of telephone sets

  and starter kits 879,777,589 5,841,622,030 879,777,589 5,841,622,030

Revenue from sales of retail goods 130,517,525 576,502,599 - -

  Other operating income 491,261,767 425,986,170 490,409,410 383,950,332

TOTAL REVENUES FROM SALES AND SERVICES 31,780,612,110 32,000,871,125 31,649,242,228 31,382,332,688

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

Cost of telephone services 18,307,544,276 13,560,130,925 18,311,770,578 13,564,390,227

Cost of sales of telephone sets and starter kits 426,912,280 5,260,991,971 429,361,372 5,256,506,552

Cost of sales of retail goods 128,751,468 518,275,825 - -

TOTAL COST OF SALES AND SERVICES 18,863,208,024 19,339,398,721 18,741,131,950 18,820,896,779

GROSS PROFIT 12,917,404,086 12,661,472,404 12,908,110,278 12,561,435,909

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (6,804,391,578) (7,351,405,620) (6,595,885,179) (7,072,890,289)

OPERATING PROFIT 6,113,012,508 5,310,066,784 6,312,225,099 5,488,545,620

INTEREST INCOME 22,702,696        407,788,456 22,370,024 407,456,401

OTHER INCOME 228,749,576 225,108,056 176,295,976 140,957,398

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN (LOSS) 144,901,069 (32,900,570) 147,178,804 (3,078,686)

NET OPERATING PROFIT 6,509,365,849 5,910,062,726 6,658,069,903 6,033,880,733

SHARE OF LOSS FROM INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

  ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD  - - (169,946,883) (93,195,209)

SHARE OF PROFIT FROM INVESTMENT IN

  ASSOCIATED COMPANY

ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD 41,587,655 19,070,384 41,587,655 19,070,384

EARNINGS BEFORE FINANCIAL COST AND INCOME TAX 6,550,953,504 5,929,133,110 6,529,710,675 5,959,755,908

FINANCIAL COSTS 23 (2,806,302,460) (2,870,772,683) (2,793,841,270) (2,911,538,279)

CORPORATE INCOME TAX 24 (1,158,125,567) (976,300,604) (1,149,343,928) (966,157,806)

NET EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR 2,586,525,477 2,082,059,823 2,586,525,477 2,082,059,823

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (BAHT)

Net earnings 5.45 4.39 5.45 4.39

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (BAHT)

Net earnings 5.45 4.39 5.45 4.39
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TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

Statements of  Changes
in Shareholders’ Equity

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002
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TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities :

Net earnings 2,586,525,477 2,082,059,823 2,586,525,477 2,082,059,823

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

  provided by (used in) operating activities :-

Share of loss from investments in subsidiaries

 accounted for under equity method - - 169,946,883 93,195,209

Share of profit from investment in associated company

 accounted for under equity method (41,587,655) (19,070,384) (41,587,655) (19,070,384)

Increase (decrease) in allowance for inventory obsolescence (263,038,256) 327,251,573 (257,101,421) 328,684,568

Decrease in allowance for declining in value of inventories - (19,991,693) - (19,991,693)

Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts :

 accounts receivable - trade (426,706,092) 578,706,356 (423,733,861) 573,750,034

Allowance for doubtful accounts : account receivable TOT - (2,157,524) -  (2,157,524)

Allowance for doubtful accounts : advances to related companies 5,942,273  - 5,942,273 -

Allowance for doubtful accounts : amounts due from

 related companies 4,449,539 - - -

Provision for diminution in value of other long-term investment - 3,742,350 - -

Provision for impairment of fixed assets 13,894,200 10,371,829 - 10,371,829

Provision for impairment of other assets 15,795,688 - - -

Reverse provision for impairment of available-for-sale securities (22,352,000) - (22,352,000)  -

Depreciation and amortisation 5,864,322,536 4,954,442,769 5,930,483,553 4,823,892,353

Amortisation of goodwill 24,157,940 24,157,940 24,157,940 24,157,940

Amortisation of advance received - other - (235,010,919) - (235,010,919)

Amortisation of deferred interest expense on bills of exchange :

 long-term loan from a subsidiary - - 203,154,345 321,360,062

Amortisation of premium on forward contracts - - 660,597,207 770,698,742

Fixed assets written-off 13,839,325 - 2,993,044 -

Loss (gain) from sales of property, plant and equipment 492,494 (63,543,356) (3,754,504) (6,579,471)

Increase/decrease in deferred tax assets/liabilities 249,553,738 46,942,885 249,553,738 46,942,885

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : long-term loan to a subsidiary - - 267,807,970 81,701,792

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : long-term loan from a subsidiary -  - (289,415,383) 66,925,955

Unrealised exchange gain/loss : long-term loans - 61,234,340 - 61,234,340

        8,025,289,207 7,749,135,989 9,063,217,606 9,002,165,541

Decrease (increase) in operating assets

Accounts receivable - trade 893,431,485 1,172,180,449 875,027,716 1,173,585,501

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiary - - 3,922,495 (19,566,721)

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company (997,225,532) (1,614,338,317) (997,225,532) (1,614,338,317)

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies 6,156,265 1,184,803,630 6,156,265 1,179,884,876

Advances to subsidiaries - - 18,921,858 (8,109,096)

Advances to associated company (4,319,315)  - (4,319,315) -

Advances to related companies (10,703,020) 73,725,257 (12,122,126) 73,624,076

Inventories 479,389,825 1,324,639,593 451,043,941 1,299,775,592

Other current assets 756,532,817 2,038,708,610 753,218,663 2,026,056,799

         Statements of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities

Accounts payable - trade (296,997,911) (800,468,911) 267,296,079) (785,997,541)

Accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries -  -          (9,949,701) 15,158,063

Accounts payable - trade : associated company (31,512,485) 31,512,485  -  -

Accounts payable - trade : related companies 33,397,238         222,016,032          33,397,238 225,787,319

Advances from associated company (20,063,387) 20,063,387        (20,063,387) 20,063,387

Advances from related companies (107,167,563) 82,343,226      (106,703,670) 78,962,469

Other current liabilities 1,505,591,058        60,320,725      1,535,175,989 (14,569,345)

Customers’ deposits (623,629,879) (757,828,295) (623,629,879) (757,828,295)

Other non-current liabilities 12,512,738            3,357,822          12,512,738 3,357,822

  Net cash from operating activities 9,620,681,541    10,790,171,682 10,711,284,820 11,898,012,130

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities :

Decrease in deposits with maturity of more than 3 months

  or have commitment 32,396,457        16,547,136 - 16,497,608

Investment in associated company -      (50,000,000) - (50,000,000)

Decrease (increase) in other long-term investments (133,423) 14,953,967                 56,164 20,004,252

Decrease in long-term loan to a subsidiary -  -  - 22,400,000

Decrease in amounts due from a subsidiary -  -      59,649,097 465,892,882

Decrease in amounts due from related companies  201,884         26,032,747             256,687 30,597,035

Increase in account receivable from assignment of right - (338,725,958) - (338,725,958)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (792,143,807) (1,716,622,066) (790,188,585) (1,791,931,991)

Proceed from sales of property, plant and equipment 12,952,662     332,028,218         12,860,699 11,921,869

Acquisition of deferred right to use of equipment

  and equipment under installation (8,018,314,229) (11,812,759,795) (8,018,314,229)(11,812,759,795)

Decrease in deposits and prepayment for purchase

  and installation of equipment 129,782,500        459,723,418        129,782,500 459,723,418

Increase in other non-current assets (639,249,519) (1,414,664,273) (622,421,727) (1,414,986,851)

  Net cash used in investing activities (9,274,507,475) (14,483,486,606) (9,228,319,394)(14,381,367,531)

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities :

Decrease in short-term loans from financial institutions (501,698,630) (895,563,567) (501,698,630) (895,563,567)

Decrease in long-term loan from a subsidiary -  -  - (37,508,257)

Repayment of long-term loan from a subsidiary - - (1,099,123,267) (1,134,855,217)

Drawn down of long-term loans 6,241,231,839    6,070,389,845      6,241,231,839 6,070,389,845

Repayment of long-term loans (8,791,617,448) (7,220,738,576) (8,791,617,448) (7,220,738,576)

Proceeds from issuance of bonds 9,000,000,000    5,000,000,000       9,000,000,000 5,000,000,000

Repayment of bonds (6,125,108,214) (857,160,000) (6,125,108,214) (857,160,000)

  Net cash from (used in) financing activities (177,192,453) 2,096,927,702    (1,276,315,720) 924,564,228

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 168,981,613    (1,596,387,222) 206,649,706 (1,558,791,173)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,496,726,015     3,093,113,237      1,410,938,684 2,969,729,857

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 25) 1,665,707,628     1,496,726,015      1,617,588,390 1,410,938,684

Supplemental cash flow information :-

Cash paid during the year for :-

  Interest expenses 2,452,680,308     2,874,522,588      2,228,200,706 3,017,737,030

  Corporate income tax 1,101,347,409     1,097,648,727     1,086,561,455 1,088,204,017

Statements of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Percentage of shareholding Nature of business

2003 2002

Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

WorldPhone Shop Company Limited 100 100 Operated franchised retail stores

  (ceased operations in June 2003)

TAC Property Company Limited 100 100 Asset management

TAC Investment Limited 100 100 Holding company (registered in

  Western Samoa and financial

  statements presented in US dollars)

TAC Service Company Limited 100 100 Provided customer services for

  paging customers (ceased

  operation in 2001)

Subsidiaries held through TAC Property Company Limited

Eastern Beach Company Limited 100 100 Land development

TAC Finance Company B.V. 100 100 Finance company (registered in

  Netherlands and financial

  statements presented in US dollars)

Viphavadee Office Building Company Limited 100 100 Property development (office building)

TOTAL ACCESS COMMUNICATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

1. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements

include the financial statements for the

              Notes to  Financial
Statements

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 AND 2002

Material intercompany balances and

transactions are eliminated from the

consolidated financial statements. The

book value of investments in subsidiaries

in the Company’s financial statements

and the shareholders’ equity of the

subsidiaries are eliminated from the

consolidated financial statements.

Assets and revenues of the Company

which are included in the consolidated

financial statements constitute

approximately 97 and 100 percent of the

consolidated totals, respectively (2002:

98 and 98 percent, respectively).

The financial statements of two

subsidiaries, Viphavadee Office Building

Co., Ltd. and WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd.,

which had combined assets as at 31

December 2003 of Baht 341 million, and

combined revenues for the year ended

31 December 2003 of Baht 133 million,

included in the consolidated financial

statements, with combined provisions for

loss on investments of Baht 320 million

as at 31 December 2003, accounted for

under the equity method, included in the

Company’s financial statements, were

audited by other auditors.  The amounts

included for these subsidiaries in the

consolidated financial statements and

the Company’s financial statements are

based solely on the report of the other

auditors.

2. GENERAL INFORMATION

2.1 The Company’s general information

The Company was incorporated as a

public company limited under the laws

of Thailand and listed on the Stock

Exchange of Singapore in 1995.  The

Company operates its business in

Thailand and is principally engaged in the

provision of wireless telecommunications

services and the distribution of handsets

and accessories.

The Company’s registered address is

333/3 Chai Building, Vibhavadi Rangsit

Road, Ladyao, Chatuchak, Bangkok.

years ended 31 December 2003 and

2002 of Total Access Communication

Public Company Limited (“the Company”)

and the following subsidiaries :-
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2.2 Agreements to operate cellular

telephone services

2.2.1 On 14 November 1990, the

Company entered into an agreement with

the Communications Authority of

Thailand, now CAT Telecom Public

Company Limited, (“CAT”) to provide

cellular telephone services.  Under the

Cellular Telephone Service Agreement

with CAT (“the Concession”), the

Company has an obligation to transfer

operating assets to CAT free of charge.

The value added tax imposed on the

transfer of these assets has been

charged to CAT and recorded as “Value

added tax refundable from CAT” in the

balance sheet.

The Concession originally covered a

15-year period but the agreement was

amended on 23 July 1993 and 22

November 1996 when the Concession

period was extended to 22 years and 27

years, respectively.  The service rates

and fees charged to subscribers are

subject to approval by CAT.  The Company

is obliged to comply with various

conditions and pay fees in accordance

with the Concession.

Fees are based on the greater of a

minimum annual payment and a

percentage of revenues from services.

The percentages of revenues from service

for each year and minimum annual

payment are as follow :-

2.2.2 On 9 November 1995, the Company

entered into an agreement with the

Telephone Organization of Thailand, now

TOT Corporation Public Company Limited,

(“TOT”) to allow TOT to hold ordinary

shares of the Company.  The Company

issued 42,829,050 new shares to TOT at

a par value of Baht 10 each.  TOT was

not required to pay for the shares as the

Company deemed the transaction to be

beneficial to its interests and, therefore

the cost of the shares was recorded as

“Goodwill” and is amortised over the

concession period.

As a result of the joint interest, TOT and

CAT agreed to reduce fees payable by the

Company, with the reduction being made

to the fee paid by the Company to CAT

(in the proportion that CAT paid to TOT)

under the Concession as follows :-

(Unit : Million Baht)

Percentage of

Year revenues per annum Minimum Annual Payment

1 - 4 12 22 to 154

5 25 353

6 - 15 20 382 to 603

16 - 20 25 748 to 770

21 - 27 30 752 to 1,200

The Company commenced commercial operations on 16 September 1991.

(Unit : Million Baht)

Year ended Annual Fee Reduction

on Access Charges

15 September 1995 173

15 September 1996 455

15 September 1997 662

15 September 1998 to 2011 827 (per year)

15 September 2012 579

15 September 2013 248
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This agreement provides that if TOT

wishes to sell the shares within 3 years

from the date of acquisition, the Company

is required to find parties to acquire the

shares from the TOT, at the price specified

in the agreement.

On 22 September 1998, TOT instructed

the Company to arrange for the sale of

its shares in accordance with the

agreement. Since then the Company has

and will continue to consider appropriate

action to satisfy this requirement.

2.2.3 Assignment of Air time Provider

Agreement with The International

Engineering Public Company Limited.

On 10 April 1998, the Company entered

into the “Airtime Provider Agreement”

with The International Engineering Public

Company Limited (“IEC”), to assign to IEC

the right to operate as an airtime provider

for a cellular telephone service for a

period of 17 years commencing from the

date following the date of the agreement.

IEC is to receive a fee based on a per-

centage of revenues from its telephone

services.

Under amendment No. 3 of the “Airtime

Provider Agreement” dated 21 March

2002, IEC is to be responsible for any bad

debts arising from the provision of

telephone services, as per invoices issued

by the Company to customers, in

proportion to the revenue received by IEC

or based on the terms stipulated in the

agreement.

2.2.4 Assignment of a certain portion of

rights and obligations under an

agreement to operate cellular telephone

services with Digital Phone Company

Limited

On 19 November 1996, the Company, CAT

and Digital Phone Company Limited

(“DPC”) entered into an agreement to

assign a certain portion of rights and

obligations under the Agreement to

Operate Cellular Telephone Services. With

the consent of CAT, the Company

assigned and transferred to DPC a certain

por tion of the Company’s rights and

obligations to operate a cellular telephone

ser vice (Digital PCN 1800).  The

Company agreed to terminate an earlier

Agreement on the Appointment of Agent

to provide the cellular telephone service

(Digital PCN 1800) (the Service Provider

Agreement) with Samart Corporation

Public Company Limited (“Samart”) prior

to 16 March 1998 or on such earlier date

that DPC commenced commercial

operations.

On 7 January 1997, the Company, Samart

and DPC entered into a Shareholders

Agreement, the Unwind the Ser vice

Provider Agreement and other relevant

agreements which include the following

conditions :-

(a) The Company will receive approxi-

mately Baht 5,400 million from DPC as

consideration for allowing DPC to use the

Company’s network and facilities and the

transfer to DPC of a certain portion the

rights and obligations to operate the

cellular telephone service. The Company

recognises this amount in the earnings

statement as a reduction against cost of

providing ser vice evenly over the

remaining concession period.  No amount

was recognised in 2003 as discussed in

Note 11 (2002 : Baht 235 million).

(b) The Company had to pay approxi-

mately Baht 1,238 million to Samart,

representing the advance received

from Samart under the Service Provider

Agreement, due to the termination of that

agreement.

(c)  The Company received payment from

Samart based on its net operating profits

earned as ser vice provider until the

effective termination date of the Service

Provider Agreement. The Company

recognised the amount in the earnings

statements as other income in 1997 and

1998.

On 9 October 1998, the Company entered

into an Amendment Agreement to the

Unwind Agreement to receive early

payment of cer tain amounts before

the repayment date in the Unwind Agree-

ment in return for a discount on the

consideration due of approximately USD

10 million and rescheduled the repayment

of the balance of the consideration.

DPC commenced commercial operation

of a cellular telephone service on 16

March 1998.

2.3 Excise tax

On 28 January 2003, the Ministry of

Finance announced the introduction of an

excise tax for telecommunication

businesses which requires excise tax to

be paid on mobile telecommunication

services, at a rate of 10 percent of revenue

from telecommunications services. This

tax can be deducted from fees to be paid

to CAT, as described in Note 2.2.1, and is

payable to the Excise Department on a

monthly basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been

prepared in accordance with the Thai

accounting standards pronounced by the

Institute of Certified Accountants and

Auditors of Thailand and with the

Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

Significant accounting policies adopted

by the Company and subsidiaries are

summarised below :-

3.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue from telephone ser vice is

recognised when ser vice has been

rendered.  Revenues from sales are the

invoiced value of goods supplied after

deducting discounts.  Other ser vice

income is recognised when service has

been rendered. Revenue is shown

excluding value added tax.

3.2 Investments

Investments in subsidiaries (in the

financial statements of the Company

only) are accounted for under the equity

method.  Losses in excess of costs of

investments are presented as liabilities

under the caption “Provision for loss on

investments in subsidiaries”.

Other long-term investments in market-

able securities which the Company

intends to hold as available-for-sale, are

stated at fair value.  Gain or loss arising

from changes in the value of such

investment is separately shown in

shareholders’ equity under the caption

“Unrealised gain/loss on changes in the

value of investments in available-for-sale

securities” until securities are sold, the

change shall be included in determining

earnings.

Other long-term investments in non-

marketable equity securities, which the

Company holds as other investments, are

stated at cost.

Loss on impairment of other long-term

investments are recognised in the

earnings statements when there is

permanent diminution in value of the

investments. Previously recognised

impairment losses of other long-term

investments are reversed when there is

a change in the estimates used to

determine the impairment loss. The

carrying amount of the investment is

increased to its recoverable amount, not

exceeding the carr ying amount that

would have resulted had no impairment

loss been recognised in prior years. The

reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised in income immediately.

3.3 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost

(moving average and first-in, first-out

basis) and net realisable value.

3.4 Trade accounts receivable and

allowance for doubtful accounts

Trade accounts receivable are stated at

their net realisable value. Allowance for

doubtful accounts is provided for

estimated losses that may be incurred in

the collection of receivables.  The

allowance is based on collection

experience and the current status of

receivables outstanding at the balance

sheet date.

3.5 Property, plant and equipment/

depreciation

Property is stated at cost.  Plant and

equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation.  The cost of

an asset comprises its purchase price and

any directly attributable costs of bringing

the asset to working condition for its

intended use.  Expenditure for additions,

improvements and renewals are capi-

talised, while expenditures for

maintenance and repairs are charged to

the earnings statements.  When assets

are sold or retired, their cost and accumu-

lated depreciation are removed from the

accounts and any gain or loss resulting

from their disposal is included in the

earnings statements.

Depreciation of buildings and equipment

is calculated by reference to their cost

on a straight-line basis over the following

estimated useful lives :-

Buildings 20 years

Building improvement 5 -15 years

Leasehold right over the period

of lease

Equipment for supporting Concession

CellularTelephone Services period and

10 years

Cell site improvement 20 years

Others 5 years

No depreciation is provided for land,

building in progress, work in progress and

equipment under installation.
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3.6 Amortisation

Deferred right to the use of equipment is

amortised on a straight-line basis over the

Concession period.

Deferred charges, which are mainly

expenditures relating to transmission

facilities, software fees, loan arrange-

ment fees, bond underwriting fees and

fees for extension of loan agreements are

amortised on a straight-line basis over

periods of 2 to 10 years or the Concession

period.

3.7 Deferred income tax assets/liabilities

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are

recognised for temporary dif ferences

arising between the tax bases of assets

and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes as at the

balance sheet date. This will be realised

in future periods when the income is

realised, or the expenses provided for, are

actually incur red and considered

deductible for income tax purposes.

Defer red income tax assets are

recognised for deductible temporar y

differences if it is highly probable that

the Company will generate suf ficient

taxable profits from its future operations

to utilise these assets.

Deferred income tax liabilities are

recognised for all payable temporary

differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

calculated based on the tax rate that are

expected to apply to the period when the

asset is realised or the liability is settled,

based on tax rates (and tax laws) that

have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the balance sheet date.

(This accounting policy is in accordance

with the accounting standard pronounced

by the Institute of Certified Accountants

and Auditors of Thailand but not yet

effective under the Accounting Act B.E.

2543.)

3.8 Unearned revenue from telephone

service - prepaid system

Unearned revenue from telephone

service - prepaid system represents the

value of service sold but not yet used and

is presented net of related deferred costs.

3.9 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the

year are translated into Thai Baht at

exchange rates prevailing on the

transaction date. Assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign cur rency

outstanding at the balance sheet date are

translated into Thai Baht at the exchange

rates prevailing on the balance sheet

date, with the exception of those covered

by forward exchange contracts which are

accounted for at the contracted rate.

Exchange gains and losses are included

in the earnings statements.

Discounts or premiums, the difference

between the spot exchange rate and

the for ward exchange rate at the

inception of the contract, are deferred

and amor tised to earnings over the

contract period using the straight-line

method.

3.10 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by

dividing the net earnings for the year by

the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated

by dividing net earnings for the year, after

adjusting for the effect of transactions

with dilutive potential to ordinary shares,

by the total sum of the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during

the year and the weighted average

number of ordinary shares to be issued

for conversion of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

3.11 Use of accounting estimates

Preparation of financial statements in

conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles requires manage-

ment to make estimates for cer tain

accounting transactions, af fecting

amounts repor ted in the financial

statements and notes related thereto.

Subsequent actual results may differ from

these estimates.

4. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

During the third quarter of 2002, the

Company changed its accounting policy

for accounting for deferred income tax.

The amended policy now recognises

deferred income tax assets/liabilities

relating to temporary dif ferences in

accordance with the Thai Accounting

Standard No. 56 “Accounting for income

taxes”. The Company recorded the effect

of the accounting change against the

beginning balance of retained earnings

of 2002 as though deferred tax were

originally recorded. The cumulative effect

of the accounting change has been

presented under the heading of

“Cumulative ef fect of the change in

accounting policy relating to accounting

for income tax” in the statements of

changes in shareholders’ equity.
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Aging of accounts receivable - telephone services are as follows :-

The Company has set up allowance for

doubtful accounts after consideration of

the availability  of customer deposits and

collection experience.  The Company

                                                                                                                                                             (Unit : Thousand Baht)

CONSOLIDATED/COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002

Less than 1 month 514,553 225,029

1 month to 3 months 26,644 96,588

3 months to 5 months 1,737 11,263

Over 5 months 10,312 1,855

Accounts receivable – international telephone roaming services 553,246 334,735

Aging of accounts receivable – international telephone roaming services are as follows :-

establishes the allowance for doubtful

accounts at the period-end at a certain

percentage of revenue from telephone

services, to provide against the balance

of all accounts receivable - telephone

ser vices in each aging period on a

progressive basis.

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - TRADE
(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Accounts receivable - telephone services 2,144,977,672 3,159,376,229 2,144,977,672 3,159,376,229

Accounts receivable - international

  telephone roaming services 553,245,684 334,735,485 553,245,684 334,735,485

Accounts receivable - sales of

  telephone sets 33,971,134 91,118,960 19,529,301 76,677,127

Accounts receivable - others 62,632,042 103,027,343 23,135,941 45,127,473

Total 2,794,826,532 3,688,258,017 2,740,888,598 3,615,916,314

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (880,834,194) (1,307,540,286) (826,928,048) (1,250,661,909)

Accounts receivable – trade, net 1,913,992,338 2,380,717,731 1,913,960,550 2,365,254,405

                       (Unit : Thousand Baht)

CONSOLIDATED/COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002

Less than 1 month 1,565,602 1,598,085

1 month to 3 months 101,253 198,958

3 months to 5 months 87,643 202,314

Over 5 months 390,480 1,160,019

Total 2,144,978 3,159,376

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (816,487) (1,205,540 )

Accounts receivable – telephone services, net 1,328,491 1,953,836
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(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY Pricing Policy

2003 2002 2003 2002

Transactions with subsidiaries (eliminated from the

  consolidated financial statements)

Sales of goods - - 3 58 market price

Service expenses - - 70 66 cost plus a certain margin

Interest expense - - 203 431 Note 6.3

Transactions with associated company : United

  Distribution Business Co., Ltd.

Sales of goods 13,858 6,316 13,858 6,316 selling price less a certain margin

Services income - 29 - 29 as per agreement

Purchases of goods 259 407 201 213 cost plus a certain margin

Transactions with related company : United

  Communication Industry Plc. ( “UCOM” )

Sales of goods - 2,496 - 2,496 price determined by the parties

  concerned which approximates cost

Purchases of goods - 141 - 141 Handsets : cost plus 0.5 percent margin

Equipment : cost plus

  7-15 percent margin

Service expenses 610 762 610 762 cost plus a certain margin,

  as per agreement

Transactions with other related companies

Service expenses 84 58 84 58 cost plus a certain margin, as per

  agreement

Service fees for installation of

  cell site equipment 1,368 534 1,368 534 as per agreement

Management fee 157 100 157 100 as per agreement

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company and its subsidiaries enter

into business transactions with each

other and with associated and related

companies, principally in respect of the

purchase and sales of goods, the

rendering and receiving of services, cash

advances and loans.  These companies

are related through shareholding and

directorships.  Such transactions, which

have been concluded on terms and

The significant outstanding balances arising from the above transactions, as separately presented in the balance sheets, comprise
the following :-

condition determined by the Company and

those related companies and which are

in the normal course of business, are

summarised below :-
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Accounts receivable - trade : subsidiary

WorldPhone  Shop Co., Ltd. - - 199,503,476 203,425,971

Total accounts receivable - trade : subsidiary - - 199,503,476 203,425,971

Accounts receivable - trade : associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317

Total accounts receivable – trade : associated company 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317 2,611,563,849 1,614,338,317

Accounts receivable - trade : related companies

United Communication Subscribers Co., Ltd. - 5,908,646 - 5,908,646

Others 26,000 273,619 26,000 273,619

Total accounts receivable - trade : related companies 26,000 6,182,265 26,000 6,182,265

Advances to subsidiaries

WorldPhone  Shop Co., Ltd. - - 17,312,492 18,392,691

TAC Service Co., Ltd. - - 61,030,712 66,221,360

Others - - 440,185 12,983,170

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts - - (108,026) -

Total advances to subsidiaries - - 78,675,363 97,597,221

Advances to associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 4,319,315 - 4,319,315 -

Total advances to associated company 4,319,315 - 4,319,315 -

Advances to related companies

Advances to related companies 12,122,126 1,419,106 12,122,126 -

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,942,273) - (5,942,273) -

Total advances to related companies 6,179,853 1,419,106 6,179,853 -

Long-term loan to a subsidiary

TAC Investment Ltd. (Note 6.1) - - 1,004,661,639 1,272,469,609

Total long-term loan to a subsidiary - - 1,004,661,639 1,272,469,609

Amounts due from a subsidiary

TAC Property Co., Ltd. (Note 6.2) - - 1,501,094,041 1,560,743,138

Total amounts due from a subsidiary - - 1,501,094,041 1,560,743,138

Amounts due from related companies

Amounts due from related companies 166,952,813 506,974,202 - 280,456,887

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (166,240,950) (501,610,916) - (280,200,200)

Total amounts due from related companies 711,863 5,363,286 - 256,687

Accounts payable - trade: subsidiaries

TAC Property Co., Ltd. - - 5,208,362 5,212,729

Viphavadee Office Building Co., Ltd. - - - 9,945,334

Total accounts payable - trade : subsidiaries - - 5,208,362 15,158,063

Accounts payable – trade: associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. - 31,512,485 - -

Total accounts payable - trade : associated company - 31,512,485 - -
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Accounts payable - trade: related companies

United Communication Industry Plc. 94,245,574 185,206,977 94,245,574 185,206,977

United Telecom Sales and Services Co., Ltd. 157,941,625 40,580,342 157,941,625 40,580,342

United Information Highway Co., Ltd. 6,997,358 - 6,997,358 -

Total accounts payable - trade : related companies 259,184,557 225,787,319 259,184,557 225,787,319

Advances from associated company

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. - 20,063,387 - 20,063,387

Total advances from associated company - 20,063,387 - 20,063,387

Advances from related companies

Telenor Asia Pte. Ltd. 116,906,660 195,907,652 116,906,660 195,907,652

Others 13,434,027 41,600,598 10,517,163 38,219,841

Total advances from related companies 130,340,687 237,508,250 127,423,823 234,127,493

Long-term loan from a subsidiary

TAC Finance Company B.V. (Note 6.3) - - 13,811,289,335 14,336,076,435

Less : current portion - - (429,925,332) (440,936,824)

Long-term loan from a subsidiary - net of current portion - - 13,381,364,003 13,895,139,611

6.1 The long-term loan to TAC Investment

Limited (a subsidiary), amounting to USD

75 million  (2002 : USD 75 million), is a

loan for the purchase of the Company’s

shares with interest charged at SIBOR.

However, the Company has stopped

recognising interest income since

November 2000.  The amount has been

shown net of cost of treasury stock

bought by the subsidiary of Baht 1,973

million.

6.2 The amount due from TAC Property

Co., Ltd. (a subsidiar y) comprises

receivables arising from sales of

equipment to support cellular telephone

ser vices. There is no fixed term for

repayment and no interest is charged.

6.3 As at 31 December 2003 and 2002,

“Long-term loan from a subsidiar y”

represented a loan from TAC Finance

Company B.V. (a subsidiary) in the form

of bills of exchange. During 2002, the

Company issued bills of exchange

amounting to JPY 42,984 million to a

foreign bank at a price of JPY 39,871

million. The proceeds were used to

early-redeem the original bills of exchange

with a consequent loss and recorded this

as “Deferred loss as a result of early

redemption of bills of exchange” in the

Company’s financial statements, as

presented in Note 14, with no effect to

the net earnings of the consolidated

financial statements. In December 2002,

the foreign bank subsequently sold the

bills to TAC Finance Company B.V.

The net value of the bills as at 31

December 2003 was JPY 39,181 million

(2002 : JPY 39,919 milion). These bills

are to be repaid between 2004 and 2008.

The Company and the subsidiary entered

into various forward exchange contracts

with a foreign financial institution to

hedge the exchange rate risk.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Inventories 387,073,078 874,178,490 366,442,018 825,201,546

Less :  Allowance for inventory obsolescence (334,543,237) (597,581,493) (314,467,114) (571,568,535)

Inventories - net 52,529,841 276,596,997 51,974,904 253,633,011

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Withholding tax deducted at source 12,551,718 7,445,737 - -

Value added tax refundable 79,630,343 275,083,088 71,533,957 273,311,389

Value added tax refundable from CAT 23,662,037 484,099 23,662,037 484,099

Prepaid expenses 126,385,341 61,699,586 126,321,338 58,919,084

Prepaid rental - land for cell sites 127,828,486 111,124,399 127,828,486 111,124,399

Accounts receivable - Revenue Department 35,925,082 580,447,258 25,897,293 565,017,562

Advance payment 6,480,621 29,951,071 6,122,446 25,948,418

Accounts receivable - TOT - 131,085,874 - 131,085,874

Others 86,779,500 58,454,833 81,971,976 50,665,371

Total 499,243,128 1,255,775,945 463,337,533 1,216,556,196

Less : Provision for impairment of assets (11,719,361) - - -

Total other current assets - net 487,523,767 1,255,775,945 463,337,533 1,216,556,196

Accounts receivable/payable - TOT consists of:

7. INVENTORIES

8. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2003 2002

Receivable from fee reduction for the concession periods ended :-

   15 September 1997 (Note 8.1) 103,944 103,944

   15 September 1998 (Note 8.1) 195,073 195,073

   15 September 1999 (Note 8.1) 211,258 211,258

   15 September 2000 (Note 8.1) 34,881 34,881

   15 September 2002 - 827,390

   15 September 2003 (Note 8.2) 809,364 242,550

   15 September 2004 242,550 -

Receivable from fee reduction 1,597,070 1,615,096

Less : Allowance for doubtful accounts (545,156) (545,156)

Receivable from fee reduction - net 1,051,914 1,069,940

Payable from access charges and others (1,284,840) (938,854)

Accounts receivable (payable) - net (232,926) 131,086

(Unit : Thousand Baht)
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8.1 The Baht 545 million receivable from

the fee reductions for the Concession

periods between 1997 and 2000 has not

yet been paid and the Company is

negotiating over this amount with TOT.

Full provision has been established for

these receivables since 2001.

8.2 In December 2003, the Company

received Baht 18 million of the fee

reduction on access charges paid for the

Concession year ended 15 September

2003 (Note 2.2.2). The balance of Baht

809.4 million has not yet been received

from TOT.

The Company received the fee reduction

of only Baht 18 million due to a change

in the calculation methodology adopted

by CAT of the amount of access charges

it pays to TOT as a result of the intro-

duction of the excise tax for telecom-

munication businesses (Note 2.3)  The

Company’s management believes that

the access charge calculation method

adopted by CAT is incorrect and TOT will

successfully claim the amount

outstanding from CAT sufficient to make

payment of the amount due to the

Company. Consequently, as at 31

December 2003, the Company has not

provided any allowance for doubtful debt

against the fee reduction on access

charges receivable in respect of the 2003

Concession year.

The net balance of account payable - TOT

as at 31 December 2003 has been

included in “Accounts payable - trade” in

the balance sheet (Note 16).

9. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER EQUITY METHOD

COMPANY ONLY

 Paid-up share      Percentage of

capital shareholding Investments at cost Investments at equity

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Million Million Percent Percent Baht Baht Baht Baht

Baht Baht

Investments in subsidiaries accounted

  for under equity method

Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

WorldPhone Shop Co., Ltd. 450 450 100 100 449,999,650 449,999,650 (221,764,830)(130,156,815)

TAC Investment Ltd. - - 100 100 25 25 (445,240,742)(675,045,846)

TAC Service Co., Ltd. 20 20 100 100 19,998,600 19,998,600 (14,521,258) (16,051,602)

TAC Property Co., Ltd. 1 1 100 100 999,930 999,930 24,431,460 24,625,172

Subsidiaries held through TAC

  Property Co., Ltd.

Eastern Beach Co., Ltd. 80 80 100 100 - - (17,058,134) (17,167,922)

TAC Finance Company B.V. 0.5 0.5 100 100 - - (212,952,638) 78,649,745

Viphavadee Office Building Co., Ltd. 208.6 208.6 100 100 - - (98,562,116) (80,574,107)

Investments in subsidiaries accounted for

  under equity method - net 470,998,205 470,998,205 (985,668,258)(815,721,375)
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10. OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

(Unit : Baht)

COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002

Investment in subsidiaries accounted for under equity method

Net investments consist of :

Investments in subsidiaries 24,431,460 103,274,917

Provision for loss on investments in subsidiaries (1,010,099,718) (918,996,292)

Net investments (985,668,258) (815,721,375)

CONSOLIDATED/COMPANY ONLY

Percentage

of shareholding Investments at cost Investments at equity

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Percent Percent Baht Baht Baht Baht

Investment in associated company accounted

  for under equity method

United Distribution Business Co., Ltd. 25 25 50,000,000 50,000,000 110,658,039 69,070,384

Investment in associated company accounted

  for under equity method 50,000,000 50,000,000 110,658,039 69,070,384

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Available-for-sale securities

Marketable equity securities

The International Engineering Plc. 127,000,000 127,000,000 127,000,000 127,000,000

Less : Provision for impairment loss (97,282,000 ) (119,634,000 ) (97,282,000 ) (119,634,000 )

Add : Unrealised gain on available-for-sale securities - 8,128,000 - 8,128,000

Available-for-sale securities - net 29,718,000 15,494,000 29,718,000 15,494,000

Debt securities 699,099 755,263 699,099 755,263

Other investments

Digital Phone Co., Ltd. 197,600,000 197,600,000 197,600,000 197,600,000

Other companies 72,573,253 71,983,666 56,933,381 56,933,381

Less : Provision for impairment loss (65,733,381 ) (69,075,731 ) (55,333,381 ) (55,333,381 )

Other companies - net 6,839,872 2,907,935 1,600,000 1,600,000

Total other investments 204,439,872 200,507,935 199,200,000 199,200,000

Total other long-term investments 234,856,971 216,757,198 229,617,099 215,449,263
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Assets

“Account receivable from assignment of

right” represents the consideration

receivable from DPC and related accrued

interest in return for which the Company

allowed DPC to use the Company’s

network and facilities and transferred

par t of the right and obligations to

operate the cellular the telephone service

to DPC as referred to in Note 2.2.4 (a).

The balance of consideration receivable

from DPC as at 31 December 2003 was

USD 105.4 million (2002 : USD 105.4

million) based on the lower of Baht 38.57

per USD 1 or the average prevailing

exchange rate quoted by the Bank of

Thailand at the date specified in the

agreement.  The balance is due for

payment during 2002 to 2005, earns

interest at the rate of 7.75 - 9.50 percent

per annum and is guaranteed by a certain

portion of the rights and obligations under

the agreement to operate cellular

telephone service of DPC. (The return of

a cer tain por tion of the rights and

obligations to the Company if DPC

defaults, is dependent upon the approval

of CAT)

As at 31 December 2003, the Company

has not received the amount due to be

paid by DPC on 30 September 2002 and

30 September 2003 and related accrued

interest, together totaling USD  34

million. As discussed in Note 28.2 (a),

the Company has submitted the dispute

in relation to the default payments by DPC

to the Arbitration Office and called for

settlement of the amounts now due. The

Company’s management believes that the

outcome of the arbitration process is

unlikely to have any material adverse

effect on the financial position of the

Company. Consequently, as at 31

December 2003, the Company has not

provided an allowance for this

consideration receivable. However, since

1 January 2003, the Company ceased

recognising interest income from this

receivable and ceased amortising the

“advance received – other” to the

earnings statement until such time as

payment of the overdue amount has been

received.  The net outstanding amount

of consideration receivable is Baht 1,548

million (net with Baht 2,516 million of

“advances received - other”).

Liability

“Advance received - other” represents

Baht 5,400 million consideration to be

received from DPC, net of the amount

recognised in revenue, under the

agreement referred to in Note 2.2.4 (a).

11. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE AGREEMENT TO OPERATE CELLULAR TELEPHONE
SERVICES
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Deferred right to use of equipment consists of the following :-

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Deferred right to use of equipment 83,895,215,251 79,343,453,661 83,069,775,251 78,518,013,662

Less : Accumulated amortisation (20,372,342,552 ) (16,233,705,877 ) (20,106,323,480 ) (16,005,689,527 )

Net deferred right to use of equipment 63,522,872,699 63,109,747,784 62,963,451,771 62,512,324,135

Amortisation included in the earnings statements 4,138,636,675 3,576,912,818 4,100,633,953 3,538,910,094

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Deferred expenses - net 894,347,275 1,043,943,343 873,326,094 1,026,225,261

Deferred expenses on transmission facilities - net 643,268,248 612,836,015 643,268,248 612,836,015

Deferred loss as a result of early redemption

   of bills of exchange - net (Note 6.3) - - 603,695,836 816,593,401

Deferred underwriting fees for bonds

  and convertible bonds - net 116,507,864 128,448,863 116,507,864 128,448,863

Deferred arrangement fees for loans - net 486,557,751 557,005,688 486,557,751 557,005,688

Deposits 162,222,440 185,488,277 161,762,202 179,504,819

Others 4,194,786 5,357,421 4,190,786 5,357,421

Total other non-current assets 2,307,098,364 2,533,079,607 2,889,308,781 3,325,971,468

Amortisation included in the earnings statements 861,154,439 668,508,880 1,059,084,416 681,140,109

Deferred right to use of equipment

represents the cost of tools and

equipment for providing cellular telephone

services that are required to be procured

by the Company and transferred to CAT

14. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

under the Concession from CAT outlined

in Note 2.2.1.  Ownership of the tools and

equipment is transferred to CAT at the

date of commencing service or when the

equipment was put into use.

13. DEFERRED RIGHT TO USE OF EQUIPMENT

The cost of such tools and equipment is

deferred and amor tised over the

Concession period.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Bills of exchange - 501,698,630 - 501,698,630

Promissory Note 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000

Total short-term loans from

   financial institutions 500,000,000 1,001,698,630 500,000,000 1,001,698,630

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Accounts payable for the purchase

  of cell site equipment 1,517,217,447 4,828,380,197 1,517,217,447 4,828,380,197

Accounts payable - CAT 393,190,858 991,307,029 393,190,858 991,307,029

Accounts payable - TOT (Note 8) 232,926,106 - 232,926,106 -

Others 327,319,552 259,127,398 323,651,832 225,757,846

Total accounts payable - trade 2,470,653,963 6,078,814,624 2,466,986,243 6,045,445,072

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED/COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002

Loan from Finnish Export Credit Plc. (Note 17.1) - 3,492,294,732

Bank loans guaranteed by Export Credits Guarantee Department

  of the Government of the United Kingdom (Note 17.2) - 1,918,590,877

Loan from Nordic Investment Bank (Note 17.3) 1,270,500,000 -

Bills of exchange (Note 17.4) 1,590,000,000 -

Total 2,860,500,000 5,410,885,609

Less : Current portion - (876,502,493)

Long-term loans - net of current portion 2,860,500,000 4,534,383,116

15. SHORT-TERM LOANS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

16. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE - TRADE

17. LONG-TERM LOANS
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17.1 The outstanding balance of the loan

from Finnish Export Credit Plc. as at 31

December 2002 amounting to Baht

3,492.3 million represented credit drawn

down from the USD 120 million credit

facility (Tranche A : USD 63.8 million and

Tranche B : USD 56.2 million) provided

under a Facility Agreement dated 24

December 2001. Interest was to be

charged at LIBOR plus 0.72 percent per

annum and loan repayment was to be

made in 14 semi-annual installments in

the amounts and at the times stipulated

in the agreement, between 2002 and

2009.

In order to hedge the foreign exchange

rate and interest rate risks associated

with the above loans, in 2002 the

Company entered into currency swap

agreements with foreign financial

institutions to swap the above Tranche A

and Tranche B loans to Baht loans, of

which one part was subject to a floating

Baht interest rate as stipulated in the

agreement and the other part was subject

to fixed Baht interest rates as stipulated

in the agreement.  In addition, the interest

expense on part of the Tranche A loan

was covered by interest rate swap

agreements.

During the third quarter of 2003 the

Company prepaid a total of USD 102.3

million outstanding under these Tranche

A and Tranche B facilities prior to maturity

as the Company obtained funding from

alternative sources (Note 18.2.4). In

addition, the Company unwound related

currency swap agreements and interest

rate swap agreements made with foreign

financial institutions, the cost of which

is recorded in financial costs as presented

in Note 23.

17.2 As at 31 December 2002 the

outstanding balance of the bank loans

guaranteed by the Expor t Credits

Guarantee Department of the Government

of the United Kingdom, amounting to Baht

1,918.6 million, represented credit drawn

down from a JPY 6,704 million credit

facility provided under a Facility

Agreement dated 28 March 2002.

Interest was to be charged at LIBOR plus

0.375 percent per annum and loan

repayment was to be made in 14 semi-

annual installments in the amounts and

at the time as stipulated in the

agreement, from 30 June 2002.

In order to hedge the foreign exchange

rate and interest rate risks associated

with the above loan, in 2002 the Company

entered into currency swap agreements

with foreign financial institutions to swap

this loan to a Baht loan with a fixed Baht

interest rates as stipulated in the

agreements.

During the third quar ter of 2003 the

Company prepaid a total of JPY 5,267

million outstanding under the above

facilities prior to maturity as the Company

obtained funding from alternative sources

(Note 18.2.4). In addition, the Company

unwound related cur rency swap

agreements made with foreign financial

institutions, the cost of which is recorded

in financial costs as presented in Note 23.

17.3 On 27 June 2002 the Company

entered into a Facility Agreement with

Nordic Investment Bank.  The principal

terms of this facility are : (See Table)

In order to hedge the foreign exchange

rate and interest rate risks associated

with the above loan, the Company entered

into currency swap agreement with a

foreign financial institution to swap the

above loan to a Baht 1,270 million loan,

with a floating Baht interest rate as

stipulated in the agreement.

This agreement contains covenants

relating to various matters such as the

maintenance of financial ratio,

restrictions on incurring indebtedness

and creating or permitting the

subsistence of security interest on

property and assets, a prohibition on

making loans or granting guarantees

except under certain conditions, and

restrictions on the payment of dividends.

17.4  On 15 August 2003, the Company

issued Baht 1,590 million bills of

exchange, comprising:

-  Bills of exchange of Baht 1,490 million

bearing interest at 2.2 percent per

annum. These bills are due for repayment

in full in August 2005. The interest

expenses of these bills have been covered

by interest rate swap agreements that

Facility : USD 30 million

Interest rate : LIBOR plus 1.15 percent per annum

Interest period : every six months

Principal repayment schedule : 8 equal semi-annual installments in the amounts

and in the periods stipulated in the agreement

during 2006 to 2010.

The Company had fully drawn all of this facilities by end 2003.

Table: NIB Facility
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

US Dollar bonds 13,306,100,000 13,306,100,000 - -

Thai Baht debentures 28,017,731,786 25,142,840,000 28,017,731,786 25,142,840,000

Total 41,323,831,786 38,448,940,000 28,017,731,786 25,142,840,000

Less Current portion of bonds

: Thai Baht debentures (5,875,131,786) (6,000,120,000) (5,875,131,786) (6,000,120,000)

Bonds - net of current portion 35,448,700,000 32,448,820,000 22,142,600,000 19,142,720,000

result in the Company paying a floating

interest rate.

-  Bills of exchange of Baht 100 million

bearing interest at 2.0 percent per annum

for the first year and interest at the

“6-month THBFIX” per annum for the

second year. These bills are due for

repayment in full in August 2005. The

interest expenses of these bills have been

covered by an interest rate swap

agreement that result in the Company

paying a floating interest rate.

18. BONDS

18.1 US dollar bonds

Bonds as presented in the consolidated

financial statements as at 31 December

2003 and 2002 represent the USD 300

million in bonds belonging to a subsidiary

(TAC Finance Company B.V.) for which the

Company has provided an unconditional

and ir revocable guarantee of the

subsidiary’s due and punctual payment

to the holders.  These bonds carr y

interest at 8.375 percent per annum and

mature in November 2006.

As at 31 December 2003 and 2002, all

USD 300 million of the bonds are covered

by cross currency agreements swapping

them to Baht currency debt subject to

annual interest at rates stipulated in the

agreements.  The agreements mature in

November 2006.  In addition, part of the

interest payable on the bonds has been

hedged with interest rate swap

agreements.

18.2 Thai Baht debentures

18.2.1 On 12 October 2000 the Company

issued Baht 6,000 million (6,000,000

units of Baht 1,000 each) of registered,

unsubordinated, unsecured amortising

debentures with a trustee, bearing

interest at 6.5 percent per annum and

with a final maturity in 5 years.  They are

to be redeemed in 14 equal quarterly

installments from 12 July 2002 until their

maturity date of 12 October 2005.

As at 31 December 2003 Baht 3,429

million of this debenture was outstanding

(2002 : Baht 5,143 million).

18.2.2 On 4 April 2001 the Company

issued Baht 15,000 million (15,000,000

units of Baht 1,000 each) of registered,

unsubordinated, unsecured amortising

debentures with a trustee, bearing

interest at 5.6 percent per annum and

with a final maturity in 5 years. They are

to be redeemed in 14 equal quarterly

installments from 4 January 2003 until

their maturity date of 4 April 2006.

As at 31 December 2003 Baht 10,589

million of this debenture was outstanding

(2002 : Baht 15,000 million).

As at 31 December 2003, Baht 1,590

million of these bills of exchange was

outstanding (2002 : Nil).

17.5 On 29 October 2002 the Company

entered into a Baht 4,000 million Facility

Agreement with a group of financial

institutions. Interest was to be charged

at THBFIX plus 1.65 percent per annum

and loan repayment was to be made in

9 semi-annual installments in the

amounts and at the times stipulated in

the agreement, between 2004 and 2008.

In the first quarter of 2003, the Company

drew down a total of Baht 2,000 million

from this credit facility.

During the third quarter of 2003 the

Company prepaid a total of Baht 2,000

million outstanding under this facility prior

to maturity as the Company obtained

funding from alternative sources (Note

18.2.4). In addition, the Company

cancelled all of the facility not yet drawn

down, amounting to Baht 2,000 million

with insignificant expenses incurred as

a result.
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18.2.3 On 30 October 2002 the Company

issued Baht 5,000 million (5,000,000

units of debentures of Baht 1,000 each)

registered, unsubordinated, unsecured

debentures with a trustee, comprising:

- Debentures of Baht 4,000 million

bearing interest at 5.8 percent per annum

and with a final maturity in 7 years, which

are due for repayment in full in October

2009. The interest expenses of these

debentures for the period from 30 June

2003 to 30 October 2005 has been

covered by interest rate swap agreements

that result in the Company paying floating

interest rates.

- Debentures of Baht 1,000 million

bearing interest at 8.3 percent minus the

“6-month THBFIX” per annum for the first

to third year, interest at the fixed 5.8

percent per annum for the four th to

seventh year and with a final maturity in

7 years, which are due for repayment in

full in October 2009. The interest

expenses of these debentures for the

period from 30 June 2003 to 30 October

2005 has been covered by interest rate

swap agreements that result in the

Company paying a floating interest rate.

As at 31 December 2003 Baht 5,000

million of this debentures was

outstanding (2002 : Baht 5,000 million).

18.2.4 On 25 September 2003 the

Company issued Baht 9,000 million

(9,000,000 units of debentures of Baht

1,000 each) registered, unsubordinated,

unsecured debentures with a trustee,

comprising:

-  Debentures of Baht 3,000 million

bearing interest at “6-month THBFIX”

plus the 0.95 percent per annum and with

a final maturity in 5 years. These

debentures are due for repayment in full

in September 2008. The interest

expenses of these debentures have been

covered by interest rate swap agreements

that result in the Company paying floating

interest rate.

-  Debentures of Baht 2,500 million

bearing interest at 3.3 percent per annum

and with a final maturity in 5 years. These

debentures are due for repayment in full

in September 2008. The interest

expenses of these debentures have been

covered by interest rate swap agreements

that result in the Company paying floating

interest rate.

-  Debentures of Baht 3,500 million

bearing interest at 3.9 percent per annum

and with a final maturity in 7 years. These

debentures are due for repayment in full

in September 2010. The interest

expenses of these debentures have been

covered by interest rate swap agreements

that result in the Company paying fixed

interest rate.

As at 31 December 2003 Baht 9,000

million of these debentures was

outstanding (2002 : Nil).

The Thai Baht debentures contain

covenants relating to various matters

such as the maintenance of financial

ratio, restrictions on creating or

permitting the creation of security

interest on proper ty and assets, a

prohibition on making loans or granting

guarantees except under cer tain

conditions, and restrictions on the

payment of dividends.

On 30 April 2002, the Annual General

Meeting of the Shareholders approved the

issuance and offer for sale of debentures

not exceeding Baht 20,000 million or in

equivalent amount in other currencies. Up

to the report date, totaling Baht 14,000

million of debentures as described in Note

18.2.3 and 18.2.4 have been issued.

19. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2003 and 2002 the

outstanding convertible bonds comprise

of USD 1.5 million at a fixed exchange

rate of Baht 25.29 per USD 1, for which

the bondholders did not exercise their put

option on 31 May 2001. The convertible

bonds, with interest at 2 percent per

annum, will be due for repayment on 31

May 2006. These bonds are therefore

included in “non-current liabilities” on the

balance sheets.

20. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

Customers’ deposits are amounts

collected from subscribers which the

Company has to refund to subscribers

when subscription contracts are

terminated an otherwise at the Com-

pany’s discretion.  At the end of the

Concession, the Company would has to

transfer any outstanding balance to CAT.

21. SHARES OF THE COMPANY HELD
BY A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2003 and 2002 the

Company had treasury stock of 170,100

shares which were held by a subsidiary.

They are presented as a deduction in

shareholders’ equity and are stated at cost.

22. STATUTORY RESERVE

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public

Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the

Company is required to set aside a

statutory reserve of at least 5 percent of

its net earnings after deducting

accumulated deficits brought forward (if

any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent

of the registered share capital.  During

2003, the Company set aside Baht 108

million to the statutory reserve from its

net earnings for the year.
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(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Interest expenses 2,389,030,367 2,834,211,346 2,178,639,196 2,861,852,562

Cost of unwinding currency swap and interest

  rate swap agreements (Note 17.1 and 17.2) 317,280,269 - 317,280,269 -

Amortisation of deferred costs for arrangement

  of loans and deferred expenses on early

  redemption on bills of exchange 99,991,824 36,561,337 297,921,805 49,685,717

Total financial costs 2,806,302,460 2,870,772,683 2,793,841,270 2,911,538,279

23. FINANCIAL COSTS

24. CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Corporate income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2003 and 2002 were arrived at as follows:

The corporate income tax differs from the amount that would arise from using the current statutory tax rate as follows:

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Income tax payable on taxable profit for the year 908,571,829 929,357,719 899,790,190 919,214,921

Add : Net decrease in deferred tax

  on temporary differences 249,553,738 46,942,885 249,553,738 46,942,885

Corporate income tax - net 1,158,125,567 976,300,604 1,149,343,928 966,157,806

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Earnings before corporate income tax for the year 3,744,651,044 3,058,360,427 3,735,869,405 3,048,217,629

Corporate income tax calculated based on

  tax rate of 30 percent 1,123,395,313 917,508,128 1,120,760,822 914,465,289

Tax effect of income/expenses that can not be

  treated as income/expenses for tax purposes (63,588,369) 34,986,558 28,583,106 51,692,517

Effect of tax rate in the Netherlands 98,318,623 23,805,918 - -

Corporate income tax 1,158,125,567 976,300,604 1,149,343,928 966,157,806
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As at 31 December 2003 the deferred tax liabilities arose from the following temporary differences:

25. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the purposes of the statements of

cash flows, cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

CONSOLIDATED/COMPANY ONLY

Allowance for doubtful accounts : accounts receivable - trade 816,487

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 314,467

Provision for impairment loss on available-for-sale securities 97,282

Accrued expenses 32,991

Unrealised loss on derivative instruments for bonds 1,463,126

Deferred loss as a result of early redemption of

   bills of exchange – net (603,696 )

Unrealised gain on derivative instruments for

   loan from a subsidiary (2,191,110 )

Other (763 )

(71,216 )

Deferred tax liabilities (30%) 21,365

(Unit : Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Cash and deposits at financial institutions 1,236,413,008 1,478,176,522 1,188,420,284 1,394,441,076

Fixed deposits at financial institutions 429,294,620 18,549,493 429,168,106 16,497,608

Cash and cash equivalents 1,665,707,628 1,496,726,015 1,617,588,390 1,410,938,684

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26.1 Financial risk management policies

The Company and subsidiaries are

exposed to risks from changes in market

interest rates and in currency exchange

rates, and from nonper formance

of contractual obligations by counter

parties.  The Company and subsidiaries

use derivative instruments, as and when

they are considered appropriate, to

manage such risks.  Such instruments are

not held or issued for speculative or

trading purposes.

26.2 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future

movement in market interest rates will

effect the results of the Company and

subsidiaries’ operations and their cash

flows. The Company’s and subsidiaries’

exposure to interest rate risk relate

primarily to their deposits at financial

institutions, short-term loan, long-term

loans, bonds and convertible bonds.  Part

of these financial assets and liabilities

carr y fixed interest rates and the

Company and subsidiaries do not use

derivative financial instruments to hedge

such risk, while certain amounts were

covered by derivative financial

instruments as described in Note 17.3,

17.4 and 18.

include cash and deposits at financial

institutions with an original maturity of

Cash and cash equivalents as reflected in the statements of cash flows consist of the following :-

3 months or less and without commitments.
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(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED

Floating Fixed

Items Note interest rate interest rate Total

Financial assets

Deposits at financial institutions 1,236 - 1,236

Fixed deposits at financial institutions - 429 429

Financial liabilities

Short-term loan from financial institution 15 - 500 500

Long-term loans 17 2,861 - 2,861

Bonds 18 23,588 17,736 41,324

Convertible bonds 19 - 38 38

The Company and subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate risk on financial assets and liabilities, which carry fixed interest rates

can be classified by maturity as follow :-
(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED

Within Over

Items Note 12 months 12 months Total         Interest rate

Financial assets

  Fixed deposit at financial institution 429 - 429 0.75% - 2.90%

Financial liabilities

Short-term loan from financial institution 15 500 - 500 1.40%

Bonds

  : US Dollar bonds 18.1 - 219 219 5.35%

  : Thai Baht debentures 18.2 5,875 11,642 17,517 4.60%, 5.60%, 6.50%

 Convertible bonds 19 - 38 38 2.00%

Amount Foreign currency

Assets (Million)

Deposits at financial institutions 10.1 USD

2.1 EUR

Liabilities

Accounts payable - trade * 26.8 USD

 0.6 EUR

Net assets (liabilities) (16.7) USD

1.5 EUR

(*) net of the amounts of USD 8.1 million covered by forward contracts and option contracts.

26.3 Foreign currency risk

The Company and subsidiaries’ exposure
to foreign currency risk relate primarily
to trade accounts payable, long-term
loans and bonds which are denominated
in foreign currencies.  The Company and
subsidiaries primarily utilise forward
exchange contracts and currency swap
agreements to hedge the exchange rate
risk arising from these instruments (Note
17.3 and 18.1).

As at 31 December 2003 the Company
and subsidiaries had the following foreign
currency assets and liabilities (after the
execution of forward currency and swap
currency transactions for certain parts
of their liabilities) which were not hedged
against foreign exchange rate risk :

The exchange rates for translation of foreign currency liabilities into Baht as of 31

December 2003 were Baht 39.7378 per USD 1 and Baht 50.1000 per EUR 1.

As at 31 December 2003 the Company and subsidiaries are exposed to interest rate risk in relation to the following financial

assets and liabilities :-
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26.4 Credit risk

The Company and subsidiaries are

exposed to credit risk primarily with

respect to trade accounts receivable.

However, due to the large number of

entities comprising the Company and

subsidiaries’ customer base, the

Company and subsidiaries do not

anticipate material losses from debt

collection and believe that the maximum

exposure to credit risk is limited to the

carr ying amount of receivables less

allowance for doubtful debts as stated in

the balance sheets.

(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED

Carrying values Fair values

Long-term loans

HEDGED

   Loan from Nordic Investment Bank 1,192 1,253

   Bills of exchange 1,590 1,580

Bonds

HEDGED

   Thai Baht debentures 9,000 8,384

UNHEDGED

   US Dollar bonds 11,921 12,972

   Thai Baht debentures 19,018 19,580

Derivative instruments

   Unfavourable derivative instruments - 1,390

The fair value of long-term loans have

been determined based on discounted

cash flow analysis, by using the

discounted rates equal to the prevailing

rate of return, as of the balance sheet

date, for financial instruments having

substantially the same terms and

characteristics.

The fair value of US Dollar bonds have

been determined based on the latest mid-

market price quoted on the Bloomberg

at the close of the business on the

balance sheet date.

With respect to of f-balance sheet

derivative financial instruments, it is

the Company’s policy to enter into

financial instruments with creditworthy

counterparties.  Therefore, the Company

does not expect any material losses to

arise from the counterparties’ failure to

per form their obligations under the

financial instruments.

26.5 Fair value

Given that all financial assets are short-

term, parts of financial liabilities are short-

term, the Company’s management

believes that the fair value of financial

assets and short-term financial liabilities

does not materially dif fer from their

carrying value.

The carr ying values (original values

excluded the carrying values of related

forward exchange and cross currency

swap contracts) and fair values of long-

term financial liabilities and the fair values

of derivative instruments as at 31

December 2003 are presented below :-

The fair value of Thai Baht debentures

have been determined based on the latest

price quoted on the Thai Bond Dealing

Center at the close of the business on

the balance sheet date.

The fair value of derivative instruments

have been calculated using a quoted

market rate to terminate the contract at

the balance sheet date.

27. COMMITMENTS

27.1 Lease commitments

As at 31 December 2003 the Company

and subsidiaries have the following

operating lease commitments for the

lease of office buildings :-
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27.2 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2003 the Company

has capital commitments of Baht 2,868

million (2002 : Baht 6,040 million) mainly

in respect of purchase of tools and

equipment for providing the cellular

telephone services.

27.3 Long-term service agreement

On 1 July 1998 one of the subsidiaries

entered into an Assignment Agreement

with am/pm (Thailand) Ltd. to operate

the “am/pm” shops in Thailand.  With the

consent of am/pm International Inc., am/

pm (Thailand) Ltd. assigned and

transferred the rights and obligations

under the “am/pm Mini Market Licensing

Agreement” dated 29 November 1990 to

the subsidiary to operate the am/pm

shops.  The “am/pm Mini Market

Licensing Agreement” covers a period of

15 years from the year 1990.  Under the

agreement, the subsidiary is obliged to

comply with stipulated conditions and to

pay to the licenser a franchise fee

calculated at a percentage of sales as

stipulated in the agreement.

However, on 1 Januar y 2003 the

subsidiary entered into an agreement to

terminate the assignment agreement to

operate am/pm shops in Thailand with

am/pm International Inc. Conditions of

this agreement were that the assignment

agreement to operate am/pm terminated

on 1 January 2003 and that subsidiary

will stop to use am/pm trademark by 31

December 2003.

27.4 Deposits at financial institutions

As at 31 December 2003 deposits at

financial institutions of a subsidiar y

amounting to Baht 5 million (2002 : Baht

37 million) is pledged with the bank to

secure facilities granted by the bank.

27.5 Bank guarantees

As at 31 December 2003 there were

outstanding bank guarantees of Baht

1,462 million (2002 : Baht 1,803 million)

issued by banks on behalf of the Company

in respect of certain performance bonds

required in the normal course of business

of the Company.  Bank guarantees are

primarily issued to CAT to secure

customers’ deposit and royalty fee paid

under the Agreement to Operate Cellular

Telephone Services.

As at 31 December 2003 there were

outstanding bank guarantees of Baht 5

million (2002 : Baht 25 million) issued

by banks on behalf of a subsidiary in

respect of certain per formance bonds

required in the normal course of business

of the subsidiary. These guarantees are

secured by deposits at financial

institutions of the subsidiary.

27.6 Agreements to install cell site

equipment

As at 31 December 2003 the Company

has an outstanding commitment under an

agreement to install cell site equipment

made with United Telecom Sales and

Services Co., Ltd., a related company, of

approximately Baht 205 million (2002:

Baht 266 million).

27.7 Agreement to install and maintain

transmission networks

On 31 July 2001 the Company entered

into an agreement to install and maintain

transmission networks with United

Communication Industry Plc., a related

company.  This related company will

provide transmission engineering network

design and configuration, installation and

maintenance services for transmission

networks for a period of 5 years. The

Company is committed to pay service

fees at the rate specified in the

agreement. Currently, the Company pays

The Company also has operating lease

obligations with regard to land for cell

sites installation. Currently, the Company

pays land rental fees of approximately

Baht 19 million per month.

(Unit : Million Baht)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2004 47 46

2005 17 17

2006 onwards 12 12
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such service fees of approximately Baht

37 million per month.

28. LITIGATION AND COMMERCIAL
DISPUTES

28.1 Litigation

(a)  The Company had been sued by a

group of companies in the USA for

damages of USD 23 million for an alleged

breach of a guarantee agreement the

Company provided to that group of

companies in the context of a mobile

phone development project. However, in

the first quarter of 2003, the Company

and the group of companies in the USA

negotiated a settlement with regard to

such alleged breach and on 26 February

2003 the Company and the group of

companies entered into the Pro Tanto

Settlement Agreement under which the

Company agreed to pay damages of an

alleged breach of a guarantee agreement

of USD 3 million (equivalent to Baht 127.8

million) to the group of companies. In

2003, the payment was made and

recorded as expense in the earnings

statement.

(b)  In March 2003 the Company,

WorldPhone Shop Company Limited (“the

subsidiar y”) and directors of the

subsidiar y were sued by am/pm

(Thailand) Company Limited which

claimed damages totaling Baht 450

million in relation to improper transfer of

the license to use the am/pm trademark

in Thailand, and subsequent benefit of use

of this trademark. The lawsuit is currently

in the judicial process. The Company’s

management is not able to determine the

extent of losses, if any, that may arise

from this case, but it is believed that any

possible liability that may arise will not

be material to the Company’s financial

position. Consequently, as at 31

December 2003 the Company has not

provided for losses that may arise from

this case.

(c)  In 2002 WorldPhone Shop Company

Limited (“the subsidiary”) sued PTT Mart

Company Limited (PTT Mart) as a result

of its breach of an agreement authorising

the use of am/pm trademark, with the

subsidiary claiming damages amounting

to Baht 42 million from PTT Mar t.

Consequently in 2003, PTT Mart brought

a countersuit against the subsidiary under

which PTT Mart claimed damages from

the subsidiary amounting to Baht 622

million in compensation for the

subsidiary’s cancellation of the use of

am/pm trademark. The lawsuit is

currently in the judicial process. The

subsidiary’s management believes that

any possible liability that may arise from

this case will not be material to the

subsidiar y’s financial position.

Consequently, as at 31 December 2003,

neither the subsidiary nor the Company

have provided for losses that may arise

from this case.

28.2 Commercial disputes

(a)  Dispute between the Company and

Digital Phone Company Limited (DPC)

regarding the default on payments of

amounts due from the assignment of a

cer tain por tion of the rights and

obligations to operate a telephone service

under the PCN 1800 system.

As described in Note 11, DPC defaulted

on payment of amounts due to be paid to

the Company on 30 September 2002 and

30 September 2003 and related accrued

interest, together totaling USD 34 million.

On 30 June 2003 and 28 October 2003,

the Company submitted the dispute in

relation to the default payments by DPC

to the Arbitration Office for settlement

and called for DPC to make payment of

the amount due, including interest,

amounting to USD 34 million plus interest

from the default date until the date that

DPC makes payment to the Company. The

arbitration proceedings are continuing.

The Company’s management believes

that the outcome of the arbitration

process is unlikely to have a material

adverse effect on the financial position

of the Company. Consequently, as at 31

December 2003 the Company has not

provided an allowance for this receivable.

(b)  Dispute between the Company and

CAT regarding fees on amounts received

from the cellular mobile telecom-

munications network roaming agreement

with DPC.

In 2002 CAT requested the Company pay

fees on amounts received from the

provision of roaming services to DPC on

its telecommunications network.

Consequently, on 25 August 2003 CAT

submitted a letter requesting the

Company pay fees to CAT on the amounts

received from the provision of such

roaming services amounting to Baht 476

million to CAT. Management contends

that the Company is not liable to pay fees

to CAT on these amounts as the payments

are to compensate the Company for the

costs incurred to expand the network to

accommodate the increase in network

traffic as a result of DPC being granted

such roaming and this kind of revenue is

not part of the service revenue which

forms the basis for the calculation of the

fees to be paid to CAT under the

agreement to operate cellular telephone

services made between the Company and

CAT. In addition, DPC pays fees to CAT

on the revenue that it generates from its

roaming on the Company’s network. The

Company and CAT are continuing to

negotiate a resolution to this dispute and

the Company therefore has not accrued

the fees requested by CAT in its financial

statements as at 31 December 2003.
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29. CONCESSION CONVERSION

The Company operates its business under

a concession agreement with CAT, as

described in Note 2.2.1. The Government

of Thailand has under taken to fully

liberalize the countr y’s telecom-

munication sector by 2006 under

obligations made to the World Trade

Organization and the Telecom-munications

Services Act 2001 (‘the Act”) provides

the framework for this process.  Section

80 of the Act allows for existing operators,

at their option, to convert concessions into

licenses to be issued by a National

Telecom-munications Commission

(“NTC”).  The NTC will be an independent

entity responsible for regulating the

telecommunication businesses.  However,

to date the NTC has not been established

and therefore details of licensing

arrangement are not yet available.

Moreover, the process of conver ting

concessions into licenses involves a

number of complex commercial issues. A

number of frameworks to assist in the

process have been proposed and the

Company has expressed its interest in

participating in this process, which is

ongoing but which has no set time frame

for its completion. As a result it is not

possible to determine as at the date of

these financial statements the outcome

of the concession conversion process and

the possible impact it may have on the

Company’s operations or financial position.

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY
SEGMENT

The principal operations of the Company

and subsidiaries involve a single industry

segment in operating wireless telecom-

munications services and distributing

handsets and are carried out exclusively

in Thailand.  As a result, all revenues,

operating profits and assets reflected in

these financial statements pertain to this

industry segment and geographic area.

31. DISCONTINUANCE OF BUSINESS
AND NEW INVESTMENT

31.1 In the second quarter of 2002 the

Company discontinued the business of

distribution of handsets and accessories

and transfer it to a new company, United

Distribution Business Co., Ltd.  (“UD”),

in which the Company hold a 25 percent

equity interest.

Total revenues from sales of handsets and

accessories for the year ended 31

December 2002 amounted to Baht 5,208

million, on which gross profit margin was

approximately Baht 320 million.

31.2 In the second quar ter of 2003

WorldPhone Shop Company Limited (a

subsidiary) ceased its operations namely

the operations of am/pm Mini Market and

Rak Ban Kerd stores.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY ONLY

2003 2002 2003 2002

Number of employees at end of year 2,650 3,018 2,650 2,612

Employee costs for the year

  (Thousand Baht) 1,382,531 1,226,317 1,342,268 1,170,870

Total revenue from the operations of am/

pm Mini Market and Rak Ban Kerd stores

for the year ended 31 December 2003

and 2002 amounted to Baht 133 million

and Baht 577 million, respectively.

32. PROVIDENT FUND

The Company and its employees have

jointly registered a provident fund scheme

under the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530.

The fund is contributed to by both the

employees and the Company at a rate of

3 percent of their employees’ salaries

depending on the number of years of

service.  The fund will be paid to the

employees upon termination in

accordance with the rules of the fund,

and is managed by Bank of Asia Public

Company Limited. During the year ended

31 December 2003 Baht 19 million

(2002 : Baht 17 million) has been

contributed to the fund by the Company.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Forward exchange contracts

Subsequent to 31 December 2003 and

up to the report date, 4 February 2004,

the Company has entered into a number

of forward exchange contracts with

banks to purchase USD 0.6 million and

EUR 0.7 million, to cover the purchase of

cellular telephone service equipment

which will be received in 2004.

35. PRESENTATION

The presentation of these financial

statements has been made in compliance

with the stipulations of the Notification

of the Depar tment of Business

Development dated 14 September 2001,

issued under the Accounting Act B.E.

2543.

Cer tain amounts in the financial

statements for the year ended 31

December 2002 have been reclassified

to conform to the current year

classifications, with no ef fect on

previously repor ted net earnings or

shareholders’ equity.

33. EMPLOYEES AND RELATED COSTS
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36. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

These financial statements have been

approved by the Company’s directors.

37. SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THAILAND
AND INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (This note is not a
required part of the basic financial
statements under accounting
principles generally accepted in
Thailand and therefore unaudited.)

These consolidated financial statements

have been prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted

in Thailand (“Thai GAAP”), which differ

in cer tain significant respects from

International Accounting Standard

(“IAS”). Certain differences (other than

classification, presentation and

disclosure requirements) between Thai

GAAP and IAS as applicable to the

consolidated financial statements of the

Company and its subsidiaries are

summarised below. This summary should

not be construed as being exhaustive nor

presenting a true and fair view of the

Company’s results of operation and

financial position as it is presented for

the purpose of giving preliminar y

information only.

37.1 Accounting for new shares issued

in exchange of a future benefit

As permitted under Thai GAAP, shares

issued by the Company in exchange for a

future benefit are recorded at par value of

the shares with a corresponding amount

recorded as an asset reported as goodwill

on the balance sheet.  The goodwill is

amortised against earnings over the period

of the related concession agreement.

Under IAS, all transactions in which goods

or services are the consideration received

for the issuance of equity instruments

shall be accounted for based on the fair

value of the consideration received or the

fair value of the equity instruments

issued, whichever is more reliably

measurable.   The goodwill would be

recorded at the market value of the

shares on share issuance date.

37.2 Accounting for derivatives

Thai GAAP does not presently have any

ef fective accounting guidance for

accounting for derivatives.

Under IAS, a company has to recognise

all of its derivative instruments as either

assets or liabilities in the balance sheet

at fair value.  The accounting for changes

in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of

a derivative instrument depends on

whether it has been designated and

qualifies as part of a hedging relationship

and fur ther, on the type of hedging

relationship (i.e. as either a fair value

hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a

net investment in a foreign operation).

37.3 Amortisation of deferred right to use

of equipment

Thai GAAP allows assets transferred to

the government under a Built-Transferred-

Operated Project to be recorded as assets

(i.e. under the heading of “deferred right

to use of equipment”) and subject to

amortisation over the concession period

as granted by government.

Under IAS, those assets would be subject

to amortisation over the lesser of their

economic useful lives or the concession

period.

The following table is a summary of

numerical reconciliation of consolidated

net earnings and consolidated total

shareholders’ equity between those

shown in consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31

December 2003 prepared under Thai

GAAP and IAS. This summary should not

be construed as being exhaustive nor

presenting a true and fair view of the

Company’s results of operation and

financial position as it is presented for

the purpose of giving preliminar y

information only.

As reported in these financial statements under Thai GAAP 2,587 29,281

Add (Less) : Thai GAAP /IAS differences (net of tax effect)

1. Accounting for new shares issued in exchange

of a future benefit (Note 37.1) (262) 2,545

2. Accounting for derivatives (Note 37.2) (646) (578)

3. Amortisation of deferred right to use

of equipment (Note 37.3) (1,043)(1) (7,544)(1)

Under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 636 23,704

(Unit : Million Baht)

Consolidated total
Shareholders’ equity

Consolidated
Net earnings

(1) based on estimated economic useful life
of equipment of 15 years, not exceeding
concession period.
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